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WHY WEDOWHATWEDO

A DIFFERENT KIND OF

INOQURFIRSTFIVE YEARS OF BUSINESSW

YE'VE GONEFROM STRENGTH

TOSTRENGTH. ASTHE LEADING MOBILEVIRTUALNETWORK OPERATOR

INTHE UK, WE

What sets us apart?
Pretty much everything about Virgin Mabile singles us
out as an extraordinary mobile operator.

When we set up the business in1999, the UX mobile
market was already one of the most competitive around.
Butinjust five short years, we've proven that a fresh
approachtoservice and a new way of thinking about
what consumers really want can pay dividends - literally!

There's no great mystery to Virgin Mabile's approach.
We are a marketing and service business: we focus on
customers, not engineering; we focus on the brand
experience, not technology. We give our customers
what they want - not what's easiest for us to provide.
Andwhat our customerswant is exactly what we
stand for: value for money, outstanding service,
greatproducts and asense of fun.

1999

A \3R\H- HISTORY OF

EVEPROVEDTHEVALUE OFBEING DIFFERENT.

All of these qualities are what makes the VirginMobile
brand distinctive. We had a huge advantage whenwe
launched; we simply took an iconic consumer brand already
known for challenging convention, and brought it to the
mobile market. The story of VirginMobile demonstrates
the rewards to be gained from a bold, fresh approach.

How we're different

There are five key areas that best illustrate how our

business philosophy - our focus onan absolutely unique

experience, bothinternally and externally - setsus

apart from the crowd: ,

- Atour company, as well as inour marketplace, we focus
cnpeople, not just numbers. We have asingular company
culture, fuelled by excitement and passionate commitment.
We believe our pecple should always come first:happy
staff treat customers well, which helps to grow the
business, creating shareholderreturns. Simple.

2000
[T

2001




-The Virginbrand gives us aprominent profileina -We have a different business model, which provides

crowded marketplace. The strong heritage and scatability and high cashreturns inanindustry
reputation of our brand is 3 powerful competitive traditionally characterised by accelerating capital
advantage, and our distinctive approach to advertising, investment. Our low-cost business model gives us a solid
packaging, point-of-sale marketing and sponsorship foundation of consistent profitability from our existing
has wonmany fans. base, while being flexible enough to accommodate new

and exciting areas of growth with minimal investment.
- QOurproducts are innovative and industry-defining. We
give our customers exactly the features and functionality ~Over the following pages, we look at each of these five
they want, because we listen towhat they have tasayand  key Virgin Mobile differences inmore detail.
tailor our offer accordingly. We've worked hard to make
our service easy tosell, easy to buy, and easy to use.

~And we back everything up with market-leading, award-
winning customer service. Onpages10and 11, youcansee
what our customers themselves have to say about the
VirginMobile approach.

2002 2003 2004 2005
: -

MARCH



%

[N

% YK




Towhwilgl

Wilvsing BM4 OXH
EVeLAMD




WHY WE'RE DIFFERENT

DIFFERENT

WEPUTOQURPEOPLEFIRST. AS ARESULT, VIRGINMOBILEHAS AGAIN
BEENVOTEDONEQOFTHEBESTPLACES TOWORKINBRITAIN.

THE FUNSTARTS HERE...

Nowadays, statements like “Our most important asset

is our people”have become clichés, drained of anyreal
value.Lots of companies say it - we meanit. Virgin Mobile's
people really are the heart and soul of the business. .. which
is the reason creating a truly distinctive corporate culture
has beenintegral to our strategy from day one.

Inmost companies, the acknowledged priorityis
shareholder returns. They work backwards from the
bottomline, and their people are merely acommodity to
getthejob done. At Virgin Mabile, our focus is onpeople
above all. We believe that if you put people first, everything
else falls naturally into place.Happy, committed people
deliver outstanding customer service; and outstanding
customer service drives exceptional business
performance, whichinturndelivers strong shareholder
returns, That's the Virgin Maobile approach.

We make every effort to acknowledge the value of our
people by making areal difference to their working
environment. We encourage our team to get the most
out of their careers, and to enjoy being part of a
successful company.

Our corporate culture encourages entrepreneurial
thinking, as well as the ability toreact quickly and
creatively to changing market trends. Our recruitment,
training and promotion procedures are all designedto
make sure that our people are selected and rewarded on
the basis of their merits and abilities. As aresult, our staff
are ahighly-talented and motivated group of people.

This means going beyond basics like clear and fair terms

of employment. We also provide a healthy, stimulating,
working environment, competitive remuneration, apension
scheme inwhichwe'll match employee contributionsup to
7.5% of salary, a subsidised healthcare scheme, enhanced
maternity and paternity benefits, and anannual bonus
based on company and individual performance.

VOTED ONE OF THE




Wealso offerafew extras...

For example, all our employeesreceive afree Virgin Mobile
phone as amatter of course; and all are members of the
Virgin Group Tribe scheme, which offers arange of
discounts on products and services from across the Virgin
Group,aswell as ather organisations. We offer three
additional days holiday after three years'service and after
one year, our people are entitled to take a three month
{unpaid) break. We encourage our staff to getinvolved
incharity and community work, and provide an additional
five sabbatical days eachyear for employees to take at
their discretion.

We offer a confidential employee support line which
provides advice and counselling services on everything
fram financial problems to personalissues. And the Virgin
Mobile Learning Zone gives our people the chance to
further their educationacross abroadrange of subject
areas.We also operate & thank you'scheme called 'SHOUT!,
whichlets our peopte nominate colleagues who've done a
particularly good job. These exceptional employees get a
chance towin a European weekend city break every month!

Durstaffenioyafun

We're proud to have beenrecognisedin 2003 and 2004 as
“One of the Top 50 Companies to Work for in the UK"by the
Financial Times, beingranked 22nd inboth years,andin
2005 tohave beenincluded in The Sunday Times Top 100
Best Places to Work in Britain.

The biggest, and for many of our people, the best ‘Thank
You'we offeris our annual staff conference, at which
everyone inthe company gets together foraday to
remember. The day is part work, part fun,and includes a
strategy briefingand Q&A with top management, where
staff get a chance to quiz the executive team on anything
and everything. Thenit’s topped off by a party, over the
weekend, where cur people can celebrate our success
with each other, their family and friends.

Andwe're always proud of the comments our own people
have made about the difference the Virgin Mobile
corporate culture makes to their lives.
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NOHIDDEN COSTS




YOU COULDN'TRESIST -
WE SAID THERE WERE NO HIDDEN COSTS



WHY WE'RE DIFFERENT

2RO

GUROFFER GIVES VIRGINMOBILE CUSTOMERS EXACTLY WHAT
THEY'RELOOKING FOR -HONESTY, FLEXIBILITY, AND GREAT VALUE -

PLUS,OF COURSE ALITTLEFUN.

Our success over the past five yearsreflects the fact that
we're committed to giving our customers exactly what
they want. We're particularly proud of having the most
satisfied mobile customersinthe UK for two years
running, according to research published by JD Power &
AssociatesinMay 2004 and 2005. Thisindependent study
put Virgin Mobile straight in at number one for customer
satisfactionamongthe UK's prepay mobile customers.
Our lead inoverall satisfaction was supported by being
number one for customer service, cost of service, and
offerings and promotions. Alittle extracare goesalong
way... and we believe we've got our customer service
justright.

At Virgin Mabile, we see our rale as 3 Consumer Champion:
putting consumers first by making our offer as clear and
straightforward as we can. We believe that offering
exceptionalvalueisn'tjust a questionof money;it's also
about making life simpler.

For example, we were the first operator in the UK to abolish
peak rates, as well as being the first to of fer prepay airtime
bundles where unused minutes roll over to the next month.
Andwhere Virgin Mobile leads, others often follow.

Flexibility

Our customers have many ways to run and pay for their
account withus ~but all offer the same core tariff and
exceptional value for money.

Our standard pay-as-you-go tariff, Flex]lets customers
top up when they need to with vouchers that never expire”
- or they canuse e-top ups, credit or debit cards. We offer
customers the option of paying by direct debit each month,
just as though they are onacontract, but without having
anythingtosign.

Virgin Mobile Bundles - arange of pre-paid bundled
monthly airtime and texts ~ offers customers evenbetter
value airtime, and cheaper calls to other mobile networks,
than our standard tariff.

And unlike other prepay operators, we let our customers
carry over unused airtime for an extra month. Virgin
Bundles start atjust £7.50 for 40 minutes’ airtime or
100texts (or 20 minutes and 30 texts), up to £24 for
200minutes or 800 texts (or 100 minutes and 200 texts).

*While connectedto the network

Flex your muscles

2x offering gives
efregdomto
wantte pay

Durpr
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Yirgin Mobile Bites

The launch of Virgin Mobile Bites in August 2004 gave our
customers arevolutionary new form of entertainment -
bite-sized boredom busters delivered straight to their
phones, any time, day or night. Virgin Mobile Bites lets our
customers keep abreast of all the hottest celebrity gossip
and the latest stories and opinions from the worlds of
music, entertainment and sport.

Virgin Mobile Pay Monthly

On1May 2005, Virgin Mobile launched anew offer
targeting the contract market. Again, we're challenging
conventionin favour of the consumer. Our new offeris the
UK's only consumer contract offer that quarantees users
either areductionin their monthly charge, or the option
torenew and receive anew phone at the end of their
contract term. No other provider automatically reduces
rates for their customers. Many (et their customers
continue paying the same fee beyond their initial contract
term, even though they've paid for their handset.

The UK contract market is very strong, so it makes good
business sense for us to extend our offer -~ some 20 million
consumers in all, with ahigher average spend profile than

Al singing, all dancing
Polyphonicand MP3ringtonas
cersonalise customers’
phonesw
musical signatre.

prepay customers. The contract market, representing
approximately one-third of customers and two-thirds of
total mobile revenues in the UK, is a substantial avenue for
growthfor VirginMobile.

The phones

We offer an extensive range of the very latest, most stylish
mabile phones - many include cameras and music players -
at sensible prices. Our proven business model and
ever-growing customer base gives us valuable purchasing
power with all of the leadingmanufacturers.

Our new“Hassle-free packages” make things easy - buy the
phone together with a monthly airtime and text allowance
for aset price. The first package we launched offered eight
months'worth of minutes and texts with the latest phones.

Lobster

We're also about to launch our own Virgin Mabile branded
phones! Our exclusive ‘Lobster'range will offer cutting-
edge handsets at competitive prices under the Virgin
Mobile brand. The first of these - due in June 2005 -

willbe one of the smallest flip handsets available in Europe.

Alittlesnack Comingsoon...
Virgin Mobile Bites offers our VirginMobile willbe launching
ntertainment-starved customers  phones a: rvices that use 3G

dur 304 DUr Unigue
e marketto the latest

inconsumer technoiogy. ..

natt
spor
totheirphones.
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JD POWER & ASSOCIATES
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UK PREPAY 2004 & 2005
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WHY WE'RE DIFFERENT

DIFFERENT

GURPRODUCTS AND BRAND AREBACKED UPBY THEBEST CUSTOMER
SERVICEINTHE INDUSTRY.BUTYOUDONTHAVETOTAKECURWORDFOR
iT-YOUCANSEEWHAT QURCUSTOMERS THEMSELVES HAVETO SAY...

Thekey to delivering a truly unique customer experience
is customer service. Superior customer care is the most
important aspect of our operations - and we're delighted
tosay thatit shows!

Attentionto the needs of our customers - inour role as the
Consumer Champion—is at the heart of everything we do.

As well as abolishing the distinction between peak
and off-peak call charges, we were the first mobile
communications provider inthe UK to offer adaily
declining tariff. Our customers can text each other for
just 3p per message; our products reflect our ability
tounderstand our customers’needs.

Thisis supportedby great service. We're proud to have
wonmany awards for our dedication to customer care. We
consistently rate highly incustomer satisfaction surveys,
and we have won the Best Customer Service award from
Mobile Choice magazine for each of the past four years.

Our customers are the most satisfied inthe industry,
accordingto JD Power & Associates. This independent
survey ranked Virgin Mobile as number one for customer
satisfaction for prepay in the UK. and our customer service
scores were miles ahead of our nearest competitor. This is
the secandyear that Virgin Mobile has been eligible to
participate in this survey and has come out a clear winner
two yearsrunning - an exceptional achievement.

Further evidence of our commitment to providing great
service isreflectedin the fact that Virgin Mobile became
afounding member of Otelo, the Telecommunications
Ombudsman. This is anindependent body setup to help
customers resolve any problems with their service, if
theneedarises.




A1V GAY ANYTHING
Y 0 USUALLY SAY A
bEVHE %Sf «ffgmg " SUT VIRGIN MOBILE'S
O iC KNOWLEDGEABLE,

1S FANTAS
Sgwmv AND NEVER PUSHY.

Virgin Mobile Stores offer customers a unique experience
and are the perfect environment to showcase our products
andservices. Customers feel relaxed and our staff make a
point of being friendly but not'salesy. Our experts are open,
honest and knowledgeable, and they help bring Virgin
Mobile tolife. Customers can try before they buy to see if
the phone's right for them; they can set up Bites or Bundles,
and our interactive kiosks show them what we have to offer.

We hand-pick our Virgin Mobile Stores staff. They're warm
and friendly, they always give their best, they like talking to
people... andwe're proud of them!










WHY WE'RE DIFFERENT

HIGHPROFITA

Allaccording toplan

Unlike most of the competition, VirginMobile had the
advantage of designingits business for the mass consumer
market fram a blank sheet of paper. Without the concerns
of network constraints, rollout and investment, we were
able to focus onthe consumer from day one - a focus that's
stilt the same today. Leveraging our understanding of the
consumer market and the burgeoning prepay market,

we have developed andimplemented a business model
that gives us aunique, consumer-focused positioninthe
value chain, and a structural advantage over other major
mobile operators.

Asamobile virtual network operater (MVYNQ), we benefit
from a capital-light business model: we don't need to
invest in network hardware, because through our
partnership with T-Mabile, we have access - on excellent
contractual terms for both sides - to billions of pounds’
worth of state-of-the-art mobile network assets. This
means that we enjoy the scale benefits of the network
operatars, without the investment and technology risk.

90-DAY ACTIVE CUSTOMER GROWTH

REVENUES
£m

YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2005

ABILITY, LOWCOST-BY DESIGN

Fromstrengthtostrength

The combination of our low cost-base, efficient access to
network technology, award-winning customer service and
extensive, powerful sales and distribution network provides
asolid platform for profitable growth.

The proofisinour financial track record: while revenues
have grown from £76.2 millionto £521. 3 million over the
past five years, profit margins have also expanded, with
our EBITDA marginreaching19.2%*in 2005, and our
operating free cash flowmarginreaching 16.2%.

Webelieve we've put the pieces inplace to create
ongoing shareholder value - with a business model that’s
unique to the marketplace based on growth, growth and
growth.We are able to continue to drive industry-leading
top-line growth while delivering strong growth at the
battom line. Our capital-light model and tight working
capital management enabie us to have very strong

cash conversion.

AVERAGE COSY PER CUSTOMER' CAPEX
£ % SALES

YEAR ENDED
31MARCH 2005
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RATING EXPENSES

Qur strong operatingleverage gives
us anexceptionaily solid financial base:
revanues grow with our customers...

b

It’s allinthe numbers

In the 2005 financial year ended 31 March, we grew our active
customer base to over four million by adding over 791,000
net new customers. Meanwhile our service revenues grew by
16.2% for the year ~ representing industry-leading growth.
These gains reflect anincrease inmarket share inboth
customers and revenues - all withaminimum of investment.

As we've grown, we've kept our operating costs flat -
excluding some incremental costs associated with our listing
in July 2004 - driving down our average cost per customer

by 23% while maintaining the best customer service in the
industry. We are committed to strict operational discipline
coupled with high standards of service. Meanwhile, our
unique model allowed us to keep capital expenditure tojust
2.1% of revenues, even as we aggressively added to our
product range throughout the year.

Our unique ability to grow with minimal investment

resultedinoperating free cash flow of £84.5 million,
oramarginof16.2%.

™. LY

...butour cost-base stayslow.




OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL

OPERATING COSTS
PERCUSTOMER
REDUCED*

OPERATING PROFIT
£82.9 MILLION

EBITDA
£100.3 MILLION

E

EBITDAMARGIN
EXPANSIONT019.2%

+1.8pp

CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE
TOSALES

PROPOSED
INAUGURAL DIVIDEND
PAYMENT PER SHARE

4.88p




OPERATING AND FINANCIALREVIEW

A WORD FROM THE

Dear Shareholder,

{am pleased tointroduce Virgin Mobile's first Annual
Report, and the Company's first set of full-year results
sinceits flotation.

Our financial and operating performance this yearis very
encouraging and represents the fifth successive year of
double-digit revenue and EBITDA growth for the business.
EBITDA wasup 27.4% ta £100.3 million for the year
ended 31March 2005 and operating profit grew 31.2%

to £82.9 million.

We continue to demonstrate strong growth inour core
prepay customer base, together with growing profitability
andhighlevels of cash generation. Subject to shareholder
approval, we have announced adividend payment of 40%
of pre-exceptional net income, paid as a final dividend at
two thirds of the payout ratio for the year or4.88 pence per
share. The cash generating nature of our mobile virtual
network operator (MVNQO) model leaves us well positioned
todeliver a progressive dividend policy going forward.

For the financial year 2005/06, we will target a 50%
payoutratio.

The Virgin Mobile business model has once again clearly
demonstratedits robustness through theseresults. Atits
careis acommitment to deliver innovative, attractive and
great value products and services to customers. We are
recognised as offering the best customer service inthe
industry and are continually seeking new ways to
strengthen that position.

This has been an eventful time in Virgin Mobile's history.
Lastyear we successfully concluded negotiations

to secure anew long-term contract with our network
partner, T-Mobile. The deal we struck represents excellent
valueto all parties, giving VirginMobile a long-term
competitivebase and the freedom and flexibility to

grow our business effectively.

The new contract helped to lay the foundations for listing
the Company on the London Stock Exchange in July 2004,
The Glabal Offering of 62.5 million shares raised gross
proceeds of £125 million for the original shareholders.
Aswell as creating a free market float of around 25%

of Virgin Mobile’s share capital, the Offering gave free
company shares to all eligible employees - a special
"thank you"to our talented and dedicated people, who
play such a central and continuing part in our success.




Turning to the future, Virgin Mobile is very well-positioned
to continue to grow revenues and earnings. We expect
further growthinthe prepay segment, through the
development of new products, services andinnovative
distribution. We've also broadened our offer to encompass
new areas of the market - in particular the consumer
contract sector. These new areas offer exciting potential
future growth prospects for the Company.

Virgin Mobile has a very effective business model, which
translates our customer insight into innovative marketing
and products. As we have shown this past year, we are able
toincrease sales rapidly without materially increasing our
operating costs. This gives the business exceptional
operating leverage. Qurunique business model also
benefits fromvery lowlevels of capital expenditure,
enablingus to be highly cash generativeasa business.

SUCCESSIVE YEAR OF DOUBL
REVENUE AND EBITDAGRC

&

As a newly-floated company on the London Stock
Exchange, my Board colleagues andlare firmly committed
to delivering high standards of corporate governance.

To this end, we expect to announce the appointment

of afourthindependent non-executive director inthe
2006 financial year.

Under the leadership of Tom Alexander and his colleagues,
we are confident that the business will continue to grow
value for our shareholders. VirginMabile has made an
excellent startinits first year as a public listed company
and we are looking forward to building on that success
going forward.

Yours sincerely
O\u&w i

Charles Gurassa




OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Dear Shareholder,

it's beenaprivilege intimes pasttohavebeenable to
report, year after year, that Virgin Mobile has had its best
ever year. Andwith our first results as a public company,
I'm delighted to say the tradition has continued.ina
competitive market, our results show that the business
continues to enjoy consistent customer growth, efficient
cost management and consequently robust andincreased
profitability. reflecting the inherent strengths and
scalability of the Company’s business model.

Performance

We're very pleasedtoreport such strongresults. Total
turnover for the year surpassed the haff billion pound
mark for the first time. And importantly, service revenues
fortheyearwere up16.2%"to £457.6 million, reflecting
continued strong customer growth. The top-line
performanceis particularly gratifyinginlight of the
impact of the 30% Ofcom termination rate cuts which
occurredin September 2004. Excluding the impact of
the Ofcom decision, our underlying service revenue
growthwas 23.0%.

GrowthinEBITDA outpaced our revenue growth, reflecting
the strong operating leverage fundamental to our business
model. EBITDAwas up 27.4% to £100.3 million for the year

ended 31March 2005, and operating profits grew 31.2% to
£82.9 million. We continued to enjoy marginimprovement,

withour EBITDA margin growing by 1.8pp to 19.2% and the

operating profit marginimproving by 2.0pp to 15.8%.

One of Virgin Mobile’s key differentiators from the network
competitorsis our very light capital needs. We kept capital
expenditure for the year tojust 2.1% of revenues while
aggressively expanding our innovative product range.

Our ability to invest in growth without having to investina
network infrastructure means we have one of the highest
free cash flow margins in the industry; in FY 2005 our
operating free cash flow was £84.5 million, which equates
to amarginof 16.2%. And the like-for-like margin was even
higher, at over 20%. This very favourable cash conversion
profile allowed us to bring our net debt down to £234 million
-just 2.3x EBITDA, from 3.9x a year ago.

The strong financial and operating progress we've made
during the year is very encouraging, and we believe we have
the model and targets in place to sustain ongoing growth.

Operations

The current contract with T-Mobile, whichwe entered
into beforethe start of the year, has ensured a thriving
partnership. The ensuing financial year was one of many
hightights, including our successful July flotation, and the
launch of anumber of important products and services.

At the core of our business is our people's commitment

to deliver outstanding service and value to our customers.
We were therefore particularly pleased towin the
prestigious JD Power & Associates survey for having the
most satisfied customers inthe UK - for the second year
running. We won first place for overall customer
satisfaction for prepay customers, and our customer
serviceratingwas head and shoulders above therest.
We're determined to build on this success and continue

to excelin the future.



The past twelve manths have seen us continue to
demonstrate our commitment to offering the most
practical and compelling products and services inthe
marketplace.We have rapidly advanced our product
offering, with the launch of anumber of innovative new
offers, including Virgin Mobile Bites and Bundles, both
of which serve as platforms for the development and
distribution of new productsinthe future.

The mostimportant of these new products and services
arrived onl May 2005, with the launch of Virgin Mobile
PayMonthly, our entry into the contract market. This
launch gives us access to one-third of the customers
and two-thirds of the revenues in the UK mobile market.
We believe thisis a very exciting opportunity for growth.

Competition

The past year has seen continued evolutionin the
mobile marketplace, including the launch of niche virtual
operators, and increasing marketing campaigns for 3G.
And while competitors'marketing efforts have been
intensive, they have had little impact onus . Indeed,
VirginMobile has achieved the highest revenue growth
among established playersinthe market. We are very
pleasedwithour success, particularly inkeeping our
subscriber acquisition costs firmly under controf within
an aggressive marketing environment. This ability is
testimony to the strength of the Virgin Mobile brand.

Our innovative approach to marketing and our unswerving
commitment to the highest standards of customer care are
alldelivered by talented, passionate people. We believe
that happy, motivated and ambitious employees help drive
the success of our business. The value of this approachis
demonstrated by our performance over the past five years,
anditwill continue tobe at the heart of the way we do
business going forward.

Future growth

Where dowe go from here?

We have enjoyed great success inthe prepay market -
and we'll continue to do so. It remains a constant focus.
There s still plenty of growth to come, as we continue to
introduce innovative products that challenge market
norms. Our superior customer service, an essential part
of our strategy, differentiates us from our competitors.
We're confident these advantages will continue to
attract customers away from our competitors, while new
services and technologies willhelp toincrease the value
of our existing profitable base.

The launch of our contract product on 1 May 2005 marks a
significant step in expanding the Virgin Mobile offer, and
isaninvestment in the ongoing growth of the business.
We expect this investment to attract new customers, as
well as being an important retention tool for our satisfied
customers who want to switch to contract.

We have a solid base onwhich to build. We know we can
count onour products, our proven commitment to
customer service, and most of all, our talented, passionate,
dedicated people. toensure that we continue to capitalise
on the many exciting opportunities the market offers.

Yours sincerely

Tom Alexander




OPERATING AND FINANCIALREVIEW

This Operating Review s intended to pravide existing and
potential shareholders with a good understanding of our
business. It outlines our performance during the financial
year to 31March 2005; provides information on our
strategy and objectives; sets out cur view of the current
state and likely development of our industry; discusses the
regulatory environment withinwhich we operate; and
describes our framework for running the business.

Overview of the UK's mobile industry

Growthinthe UK mobile industry continues to exceed
expectations, driven by growthin consumer take-up of
multiple devices, the ongoing structural shift from fixed
towireless, and increasing adoption of new services. While
penetration of mobile phones inthe UK (measured in SIM
connections) passed 100% in 2004, these factors and
ongoing technological advances are expected to deliver
growth that outpaces average economic growth.

While the UK market is competitive, market conditions
are promising. Total UK wireless minutes increased by
16% in 2004".Only 29% of the UK's gutbound voice traffic
was carried over wireless networks in 2004, up from
26% the previous year.

UK WIRELESS TRAFFIC
(BILLIONS OF MINUTES)

UK FIXED LINE
(BILLIONS OF MINUTES)
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GROWTHINTHEUK MOBILE
INDUSTRY CONTINUES TO EXCEED
EXPECTATIONS, DRIVENBY GROWTH
IN CONSUMER TAKE-UP OF MULTIPLE
DEVICES, THE ONGOING STRUCTURAL
SHIFTFROMFIXED TOWIRELESS,
AND INCREASING ADOPTION OF

NEW SERVICES.

The shift from fixed to wireless is set to continue - a
particularty important trend in the youth market, as more
and more young people turn to their mobile as their primary
phone. We think VirginMobile isideally positioned to take
advantage of this and other UK growth opportunities.

Overthe past few years, there have been anumber of new
entrants to the UK mobile market, causing concerns about
aggressive pricingamong market commentators. Thus far,
competitive pricing inthe market has tended to be about
tariff headlines, achieved by slicingand dicingrates
offered for particular types of calls or messages. These
types of complex pricing initiatives do not tend to induce
across-industry response, but rather fuel anincreasing
scepticismamong consumers toward tariffing claims.

REVENUE PER MINUTE
UK MOBILE MARKET, 2002-2004

402 Q103 Q203 Q303 Q403 QI04 G204

Q304 Q404




OUR CORE PREPAY MARKETIS A
VERY EXCITINGPLACETO BE,WITH
REALPOTENTIALFOR GROWTH.

Within this envirenment, our approach to pricingremains
the same: to give our customers value for moneyina
straightforward and clear way. We do this by common
sense pricing structures such as our daily declining call
rates, having the anly prepay bundles that allow unused
minutes to be used the next month, and most recently the
Virgin Mobile Pay Monthly contract package that has no
month-13 catch.

While new entrants continue to come into the marketplace,
Virgin Mobile’s performance goes fromstrength to
strength. Successinthe UK mobile marketisbasedona
combinationof factors, rather than on price alone. As
markets mature, our key strengths - great customer
service, deep consumer insight and a strongbrandimage -
areincreasingly powerful differentiators.

We've thrivedin this competitive marketplace since our
launch five years ago. Our core prepay marketis avery
exciting place to be, withreal potential for growth. Virgin
Mobile’s five million prepay cannections represent only
around 14% of the total prepay market of 36 million. Total
market churnin 2004 was approximately 28%/, providing
a substantial addressable market for us. In addition, the
previousty untapped contract market is highly attractive:
twenty million subscribers who account for two thirds of

total mobile service revenues inthe UK. Within a very active
UKmobile market, our continuing momentuminprepay and

our expansion into the contract market translateinto
compelling growth opportunities.

PREPAY CONNECTIONS SHARE
(TOTAL UK CONNECTIONS 36m!

UK MOBILE CONNECTIONS 2004

Thebusiness, its objectives andits strategy
Our Strategy
Atthe time of our IPO, we set out aclear aimto grow the
business rapidly, and a defined strategy to achieve this:
- continue strong growth in customers and revenues;
—increase customer spending through product innovation;
- expand our efficient distribution network and
customerreach;
- exploit our business model to continue to deliver
high cashreturns;and
—leverage our brand strength
- explore international opportunities

Inthe past year, we made significant, tangible progress
ineach of these areas. In the short term, our principal
focus remains on exploiting the clear opportunities apen
tous inthe UK prepay market, and on steady expansion
into the contract market. We will also explore international
opportunities in the medium term, subject to market
attractiveness andrigorousinvestment criteria.

The following section autlines the operational and financial
progress we made during the year.

1 Source: Strategy Analytics, December 2004
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Continue stronggrowthin customers and revenues

Virgin Mobile has produced very robust growth in customer
numbers withina competitive environment, as aresult

of our great value and innovation, superior consumer
marketing, broad customer reach, strong brand and the
best customer carein the industry. Total SIM connections
reached 5,359,900 (FY04:3,961,500). Our active customer
base grewt04.031.800(FY04:3,241400).a 24.4%
increase fromayear ago.

Churnwas higher at17.5%(FY04:14.0%), in line with
industry trends. While being awell-understood cost of
business, churnis also animportant growth driver for
Virgin Mobile, as we continue to attract customers
away from our comnpetitors.

Duringthe year our growth was derived exclusively from
the prepay market; our contract market product, Virgin
Mabile Pay Monthly, was launched in May 2005, extending
our presence into the largest market segment by revenue.

$0-DAY ACTIVE CUSTOMER GROWTH SUBSCRIBER ACQUISITION COSTS

SEPT  MAR
2004 2005

Q3 4 Q G2 Q3 @4

33 d G
2004 2004 2005 2005 2005 2005

Rapidly increasing service offering

The expansionof our product range is akey driver of
growth far Virgin Mabile, and we have made significant
progress during the year. Our innovative approach to
product development continues to differentiateus
inthe marketplace.

= In August 2004 we launched Virgin Mobile BITES,
our cuttingedge entertainment service and the platform
for the delivery of value-added multimedia services.

As aconsequence, value-added servicesrevenuerose
by over 0% during the year.

-InOctober 2004, we launched Bundles, a platform which
allows us to target a number of consumer segments. The
Bundles product offers customers high-value bundles of
voice minutes, texts, and picture messaging. This product
enablesus to target high-value prepay customers, both
those new to Virgin Mobile and by offering value to our
existing base. This important capability also serves asa
technological platform for entry into the contract market.

~InNovember 2004, we launched our Hassle-free package,
offering eight months'worth of minutes and texts
packagedwitharange of handsets. Thisis yet another
example of our innovative approach to marketing,
providing consumers with contract-type value without
theneedtosignacontract.

-Therecentintroductionof ourLine Rental RescueKit
served as the next phase of development for our contract
platform, offering contract customers on other networks
asimple way to transfer their phones to Virgin Mobile at
animproved price.

-0n1May 2005, Virgin Mobile announced the next phase
of its evolution with the launch of Virgin Mobile Pay
Monthly, our entry into the contract market. This launch
opens anavenue of substantial growth; the contract
market represents approximately one third of mobile
customers and two thirds of total mobile revenues
inthe UK.




Expanding Customer Reach

Effective distributionhas beenkey to our performance
throughout our operating history. In 2005, we continued
to expand our distribution network inahighly efficient
manner.

- We grew our total distribution network by 20%, adding
our products to approximately 1,000 new outlets. Virgin
Mobile products are now available from approximately
6,000 outlets throughout the UK.

- Virgin Mobile Stores now number 104, from 85 at HIFY05
andjust tenayear ago. This phase of the Virgin Maobile
Storerolloutis now complete, withongoing cpportunities
for further expansion as the VirginMegastores network
grows. Our Stores continue to be avery effective
distribution channel for Virgin Mobile, attracting high
value customers.

- We expanded the Virgin Mobile Store conceptin October
2004 with apilot at eight WH Smithlocations. We will
continue to explore opportunities to further expand
the Virgin Mobile Stores onthe high street.

~We established anindependent dealer network of 600
outlets, supplied through anumber of distributors. We
have alsobeguntodistribute our products to deaters
directly. This new channe! has made a significant
contribution to connections during the year.

-Thelnternetis also avery effective distribution point for
Virgin Mobile. A number of Internet-based marketing
initiatives during the year were very successful,and we
will continue to develop thisimportant, cost-effective
distribution channel.

VIRGIN MOBILE STORES

Ko

ANESSENTIAL COMPONENT OF OUR
BRAND STRATEGY IS PROVIDING
EXCELLENT CUSTOMER SERVICE.

Leveraging our brand strength

VirginMobile's brandis animportant asset for the

Company, allowing us to achieve broad consumer appeal

withrelatively low investment. Our total advertisingand

marketing spend for FY 2005 wasjust 4.4% of sales.

We won anumber of marketing awards during the period,

demonstrating our brand’s effectiveness:

~Thetop Gold Award at the IPA Advertising Effectiveness
Awards 2004

- Best Ad Campaign for ‘Idle Thumbs'at the Mobile Choice
Consumer Awards in October 2004.

Anessential component of our brand strategy is providing
superior customer service. We consistently receive the
highest ratings in the UK mobile market for our customer
care, and we are delighted tohave once againbeen
recognised during the year inthisimportant area.

- We achieved the highest customer satisfactionrating
inthe prepay market in the JD Power & Associates
survey for 2004 and 2005, our first two years of
inclusion. Our customer service rating in the survey
was substantially ahead of all of our competitors.

-We also won Best Customer Service for the fourth year
inarow at the Mobile Choice Consumer Awards 2004,
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DURINGTHE YEARWEWERE ABLE

TO SUCCESSFULLY GROWTOP-LINE
REVENUE ATINDUSTRY-LEADING
RATES, GROWBOTTOM-LINE PROFITS
ATIMPROVED MARGINS AND
PROPOSE AMAIDENDIVIDEND.

Exploit our business model to continue

todeliver highcashreturns

High cash conversionis amajor strengthof our business
model. During the year, strong revenue growth and low
fevels of operational and capital expenditure generated
operating free cash flow of £84.5 million. While this
reflected adeclineinoperating free cash flow margin,
the like-for-like marginincreased by 2 percentage points,
excluding theimpact of a one-off employee bonus
payment of £23.5 millionin 2004.

The uniqueness of our business modelis highlighted

by the 27% declinein our capital expenditures to

£10.8 million, representing only 2.1% of revenues. We
were able to reduce our capex withinaperiod of intense
development, inwhichwe added the bundies platform
capability and launched a number of new products,
including GPRS, MMS Virgin Mobile BITES and Bundles.

During the year we were able to successfully grow top-line
revenue at industry-leading rates, grow bottom-line profits
atimproved margins and propose amaiden dividend.

We believe that our ability to investin the future growth

of our business while still growing profits and generating
returns for shareholdersis akey differentiator for

Virgin Mobile.

Outlook

QOur strategy to drive strong growth by leveraging our
brand and differentiated approach to the market remains
at the heart of our plans for the coming year. We further
intend to maintain the firm operational discipline we have
embedded throughout the organisation.

Revenue

During the forthcoming year we expect to continue to take
advantage of growth opportunities in the UK and deliver
mid-teens percentage year-on-year service revenue
growth. This represents superior top-line growth. We will
achieve this by continuing to drive growthin the prepay
market while increasing our product reach and building
onour contract offer following its successful launch
on1May 2005,

Earnings

Exceptional operational leverage has been a highlight of
the Virgin Mobile business model, with excellent financial
management allowingus to maintain a stable operational
costbase while deliveringindustry-leading revenue
growth. This leverage s forecast to continue, despite our
expansion and additional investment into the contract
market. We will continue to drive down the cost to serve
each customer, while remaining committed to best-in-class
customer service. And while we expect profit marginsin
our core prepay business to remain very strong, acquisition
investmentinto the contract marketis expected to dilute
EBIT margins, by between zero and one percentage points
inthefirst year, withreturns on that investment expected
toreap benefits inthe financial year 2006/07 and beyond.

Shareholderreturns

Owing to the high cash conversion of our business model,
we forecast a continuing reduction of the current net debt
position. While this will bring our debt ratios down closer
tothose of our peers, we expect that we can deliver
growingreturns to shareholders through dividend
payments. For the year ended 31March 2005, we have
proposed amaiden dividend based on 40% of pre-
exceptional netincome. Upon approval, this will be paid
as a final dividend, at two thirds of the payout ratio, or
4.88p per share.We targeta 50% payout ratio for the
2005/06 financial year.




DURINGFY05/06, WEWILL
INCREASINGLY ROLL 3G PHONES
INTC OURRANGE ONMERIT,AND
WEWILL EVOLVE OURSERVICE SET
ASTHE MARKETITSELFDEVELOPS.
WEHAVETHE FLEXIBILITYTO
MONITORMARKETDEVELOPMENTS,
ANDTO EXPAND WHENWE BELIEVE
CONSUMERS AREREADY.

3G Strategy

Theinitial rollout of 3G services inthe UK market is
underway. Were encouraged to see the emergence
of these new services, however the consumer
appetite for 3G is still developing gradually.

We believe there are severalreasons for this gradual
development, all of themrelated. True mass-market
adoptionstarts when benefits are understood and
compelling, and the product works well andis priced
appropriately. 3G services and devices have not hit this
point yet. Consumers are being asked to take abackward
stepinproduct size, weight, and battery life. Services
are not generally compelling and are highly priced.

We expect the 3G product attributes toimprove through
2005 and 2006.During FY 2005/06, we will increasingly
roll 3G phones inta ourrange onmerit, and we'll evolve our
service set as the market itself develops. We have the
flexibility to manitor market developments, and to
expand whenwe believe consumers are ready.

We alsa have the same freedomwith other wireless
technologies, for example, we aim to try mobile television
withinthe next twelve months. We are continually
investigating a variety of technological alternatives,
aswe strive to provide our customers with the most
compelling, user-friendly products onthe market.

There are agreat many opportunities for growthin the UK
market, particularly for Virgin Mobile, as we expand our
product and service set and enter new market segments.
We think this is an exciting time for the business, as
opportunities and technologies developin our core market.
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We have prepared our statutory accounts for the twelve

months ended 31March 2005. On 14 May 2004, we changed

ouryear-end from 31December to bring it inline with other
UK listed mobile operators. As aresult, our comparative
statutory periodis for the three months ended 31 March
2004. Gperating profit for the twelve months ended
31March 2005 was £67.7 million* (including £15.2 million
of exceptional operating costs) and for the three months
ended 31 March 2004 was £22.7 million (including

£1.0 million exceptional turnover). Profit after tax for the
twelve months ended 31 March 2005 was £34.7 million
and for the three months ended 31 March 2004 was
£14.8 million.

On 29 January 2004, we enteredinto the TSA with our
network provider, T-Mobile. Until 29 January 2004, under
our previous telecommunications supply agreement,
T-Mobile paid MSC, being a monthly amount based on the
number of customers in that month, which we recognised
as turnover. From that date, instead of paying MSC,
T-Mobile now passes through the inbound revenue they
receive from third parties inrespect of inbound calls,
ormessages sent, to our customers, whichwerecognise
as turnover. Also,under the new TSA, the charges we pay
to T-Mobile for use of their network are different to the
charges under the previous telecommunications

supply agreement.

The following results and financial review are based
onthe statutory results for the twelve months ended
31March 2005 (a period for which the new TSA was fully
operational) compared to theresults for the twelve months
ended 31March 2004, adjusted for the impact of the new
TSAasifithadbeenoperational from1Aprit 2003 and
adjustedsoas toreflectanormalised effective tax rate
(areconciliationbetween audited results for the twelve
months ended 31 March 2004 to the pro formaresults for
the twelve months ended 31March 2004 is shown on pages
34 and35).Eachperiod excludes exceptional items so as
to show theunderlying performance of the business,
unless otherwise stated.

Profarma
12months  12months
ended ended Change over
31March 31March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
E million £ million period
Turnover
Servicerevenue 4576 394.0 16.2%
Equipment revenue 637 593 7.4%
Total turnover 521.3 4533 15.0%
Gross profit
Service margin 280.7 246.7 13.8%
Equipment margin (61.0} (51.0)  19.6%
Total gross profit 2197 195.7 123%
Administrative expenses
before depreciation (119.4) (h7.0} 21%
EBITDA 100.3 787 27.4%
Depreciation (17.4) (155) 123%
Operating profit 82.9 632  31.2%




Revenue growth

Totalrevenue increased by 15.0%" to £521.3 million
(FY04:£453 3 million), primarily due to the continued
growthinour customer base.

Servicerevenue

Proforma

12months  12months Changeover

ended ended  proforma

31March 31March prior

2005 2004 period

Service revenue (£ million} £4576m £394.0m 16.2%

Total connected sims (000s) 53589 39615 353%
Net connected sims additions

{000s) 13984 13244 56%

Churnrate (%) 17.5% 14.0% 3.5pp

Total active customers (000s) 40319 32415 244%
Net active customer additions

{000s) 7904 10531 (24.9%)

Annual ARPU(£) £127 £147  (13.6%)

Annual MOU {minutes) 775 884  (123%)

Annual average SMS [SMS) 614 686  (10.5%)

Servicerevenueincreased by 16.2% to £457.6 million
(FY04:£394.0 million ) primarily due to our strong customer
growth. Rolling twelve month ARPU (average revenue per
userywas £127 compared to £147 at 31 March 2004,
remaining above averagein the prepay market. Of the £20
decrease, £7was due toareductionininboundrevenue
following the Ofcominterconnect rate ruling in September
2004.The balance of thereduction arises from Virgin
Mabile’s very high customer base growth during the past
twelve months which has had the effect of diluting ARPU.
This dilution of ARPU has slowed over the year with only
£4 of the £13 dilution occurringin the second half. Very low
incremental operating costs and low acquisition costs
continue to ensure that we enjoy attractive profitability
fromincremental customers.

Equipmentrevenue

Equipmentrevenueincreasedby 7.4% to £63.7 million
{(FY04: £59.3million) drivenby the increase in our customer
additions. We have continued our successful strategy where
certainchannel partners are incentivised to combine Virgin
Mobile service packs with handsets {sourced by the channel,
but approved by us), and sell the bundled package to end
consumers. Service pack only dispatches to such channels
for the year ended 31 March 2005 were 57% of total
dispatches (FY04:58%).

Gross profit
Pro forma
1Zmonths  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 31March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
Emiltian Emillion pariod
Service gross profit 280.7 2467  138%
Equipment gross loss (61.0) (51.0) 19.6%
Total gross profit 219.7 1957 12.3%
Service gross margin 61.3% 626% (1.3pp)
Gross margin 421%  432% (Vipp)

Totalgross profitincreased by 12.3% to £219.7 million
(FY04:£195.7 million), primarily due to the growth in our
customer base.

Service gross profit

Service gross profitincreased by 13.8% to £280.7 million
(FY04:£246.7 miilion). Service gross margin declined to
61.3%(FY04:62.6%).This decline was primarily the result
of the Ofcom imposed terminationrate cuts. Core service
pricing remained unchanged during the year, and our
‘Bundles’option was introduced at the half way stage. In
terms of product mix, the revenue contribution of roaming
and other value-added services rose by over 90%. While the
margin gained onthese products is lower, their contribution
isregarded as incremental and not substitutional.

Equipment gross margin

Equipment gross loss increased by 19.6% to £61.0million
(FY04:£51.0 million) due to the increase ingross
connections. The cost per connection as measured by
subscriber acquisition costs (“SAC") was relatively stable
increasing by only £1to £26 per connection {FY04:£25).
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Continued cost control

During the year, we remained focused on cost control
while implementing initiatives for the on-going growth
of thebusiness.

Acquisitioncosts

Despite anincrease inthe level of competitioninthe
marketplace, our highly effective distributionapproach, our
strongbrand, and the continued optimisatien of our channel
marketing activity has enabled us to containgrowthin our
SAC whichwere £26 per connection (FY04: £25).

Administrative expenses

12months  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 31March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
) £ million £million period
Total employee costs® 521 494 55%
Channel andretention costs™ 205 210 {2.4%)
Advertisingand marketing 230 23] (0.4%)
Depreciation 17.4 15.5 12.3%
Others 238 235 13%
Total 136.8 132.5 3.2%

*  Excludes staff costs in respect of Virgin Mobile Stores. includes costs of
permanent employees, costs of cantractors and temporary employees and costs
associated with our outsourced cali centre, as well as other related employee
costs {including training and share option costs).

** Channel and retention costs include staff costs in respect of Virgin Mobile Stores.

Over the year to 31 March 2005, our active customer

base has grownby 24%, while operating costs before

depreciationhaverisenbyjust 2.1% inthe same period.

This represents a 23.1% reduction in operating costs

per customer’.

Themainincreases in operating costs were related tonew
costs associated withbeing a publicly listed company,
including the cost of introducing share incentive schemes.

Excluding plc-related costs, the like for like operating costs
before depreciationincreasedonly 0.5% to £118.5 million.
Other costs like further expansion of the Virgin Mobile Store
concept (there were 104 total stores at 31 March 2005,
compared to ten stores at 31March 2004} were absorbed
within the operating costbase.

1 Average operating costs before depreciation, per customer per month

Totalemployee costs increased by 5.5% to £52.1million
(FY04:£49.4 million } the majority of whichrelated to new
plc costs, including a£1.0 million non-cash charge inrespect
of employee share options issued during the year.

Due to the continued optimisation of our channel marketing
activity, channel and retention costs decreased by 2.4%.
This was despite anincrease in the staffing costs for our
Virgin Mobile Store expansion.

Advertising and marketing remained stable year on year.
The depreciationchargeincreased by 12.3% including a full
year's depreciation of our new billing system that provides
uswith flexible capability torate and bill customers for new

services and products as they become available.

Increased profitability

Proforma

12months  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 31March  proforma
2005 2004 prior
£ million £ million periad
EBITDA 100.3 787 27.4%
EBITDA margin 19.2%  174%  18pp
Operating profit 829 63.2 31.2%
Operatingprofit margin 15.9% 13.9% 2.0pp

Inline with our strategy, we continue to grow profitability
through strongrevenue growth and operating leverage
of the cost base, evidenced by expanding EBITDA margin
t019.2% (FY04:17.4%) and expanding operating profit
marginto15.9% (FY04:13.9%). Profit margins were
impacted by the Ofcom termination rate cuts occuring

in September 2004. Excluding the impact of these cuts,
underlying EBITDA and operating profit margins
expanded by more than 5pp.



Exceptionalitems

We incurred £15.2 million of operating exceptional items
during the year ended 31March 2005: £6.3 millionrelates
to expenditure inrespect of our group reorganisation
and our IPQin the year and £8.9 millionrelates ta the
implementation of the pre-IPQO share option scheme
under which share options were granted to employees
asareward for growing the business in the period from
launchuntil IPO.

Operating profit after exceptionalitems rose by 39.3%
to £67.7 million (FY04:£48.6 million).

Financecharges

Finance charges were £14.5 million. This expense reflects
the interest expense (£1.6 million} on the shareholder
and previous shareholder loans from 1 April 2004 to

5 July 2004, on which date the loans wererepaid, and the
interest charge (E14.4 million) on the new credit facility
from July 2004. Interest received was £1.5 million.

Taxation

Taxis charged at our effective tax rate of 30%. We have
continued toutilise our brought forward losses and
unclaimed capital allowances and conseguently have no
tax liability at 31 March 2005. The deferred tax asset at
31March 2005 is £17.8 million.

Dividend

Inlight of our continued strong cashflow generation, the
Board proposes a final dividend of 4.88 pence per share,
payable on 25 July 2005 to shareholders on the register
on 10 june 2005, subject to approval of shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting on 20 July 2005. The dividend
isbasedon40% of pre-exceptional netincome and s paid
as a final dividend at two thirds of the payoutratio for

the year.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure remained low at £10.8 million withina
period of significant development, inwhichwe have added
platform capability and launched a number of new products,
including GPRS, MMS, Virgin Mobile BITES and Bundtes.
Wehave received excellent development support from our
network partner, T-Mobile, under the terms of our new
supply contract, A significant part of our capital expenditure
has been deployed to service continued customer growth
andimproved resilience of coreIT systems.

Cashgeneration
Proforma
12Zmonths  12months
ended ended Changeover
31March 3iMarch  proforma
2005 2004 prior
Emillien £ million period
EBITDA 100.3 787 274%
Change inworking capital (4.3) 184 (123.4%)
Purchase of fixed assets (1.5) (14.7)  (21.8%)
Operating free cashflow B4.5 824 25%
Operating free cashflowmargin =~ 162%  182%  (2.0pp)

The working capital mavement of (£4.3 million) arose from
the one-off effect of the long-termbonus of £23.5 million,
incurred in the results for the year ended 31 December 2003,
but paid from cash flow during the year to 31 March 2005.
Excluding this payment, working capital has improved by
£19.2 million demonstrating the underlying efficiency of

cur working capital cycle.

Due to the payment of the long-term benus, the operating
free cashflowmarginhas reduced to 16.2%. Excluding this
payment, the like-for-like free cashflow marginis 20.7%.
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Financing
31March 31March
2005 2004 Change
Emillon _Emillion _ million
Cash at bank andin hand 132 375 (243)
Shareholder and previous
shareholder loans - (76.8) 76.8
Old syndicatedloan - {23.0) 230
Repayment of loan from original
VirginMobile Telecoms Limited
shareholders - (2410) 2410
New credit facility {250.0) - (2500)
Unamortised arrangement fee 26 - 26
Total net debt {234.2) (3033) 69.1

As part of the group reorganisation undertaken during
the year, we entered into a new £350 million credit
facility under which we drew down £330 million {net of
af£3.3millionarrangement fee whichwe are recognising
inthe profit and loss account over the term of the credit
facility ata constant rate on the carrying amount).

Thehighly cash generative nature of the business model,
the strong revenue growth and low levels of operational
and capital expenditure has enabled us to rapidly reduce
the debt levels. Froman opening position of net debt of
£303.3 million at 31 March 2004, the Group has reduced
borrowing substantially to £264 miltion at 30 September
and to £234.2 million at 31 March 2004. This rapid debt
reductionandstrong financial management has enabled
us to bring our gearing down tojust 2.3x EBITDA,
compared to 3.9x at 3tMarch 2004.

Treasury palicy and risk management

The Group's treasury functionisresponsible forraising
finance for the Group's operations, together with
associated liquidity management, and the management
of foreign exchange, interest rate and counterparty risks.
Treasury operations are conducted withina framework of
policies and guidelines authorised and reviewed by both
the Audit Committee and the Board, whoreceive regular
updates of treasury activity. Derivative instruments are
transacted for risk management purposes only and no
speculative transactions are allowed.

Interestrate management

The Group has financial exposures to sterlinginterest
rates, arising on the £350 million facility enteredintoin
July 2005. At 31 March 2005, £250 million of the term loan
was outstandingwhile the £100 millionrevolver had been
fully repaid. These exposures are managed through
hedgingatleast 50% of the interest rate exposure on the
aggregate drawn down termloan. As at 31March 2005,
Virgin Mobile had 60% of the interestrate exposure on
the term loan hedged with aninterest rate swap
agreement that allows the interest rate to be fixed
onaquarterly basis at arate betweenanupper and
alower level,

Currency exchangerates

The Group's revenues and costs are substantially
denominated insterling, although approximately one-
third of handset purchases are denominated in Euros. The
Group's policy is to eliminate currency expasure on these
purchases at the time of purchase through forward
currency contracts. Although these financiaf instruments
canmitigate the effect of short-term fluctuationsin
exchangerates, there canbe nc completely effective
hedge against long-term currency fluctuations,

Liquidity Management

The Group's policy is to ensure the Group has sufficient
funds to meet financialliabilities while using cash
efficiently tomaximise returns. Working within the
policies agreed by the Board of Director’s, the treasury
function reviews liquidity demands on a daily basis and
surplus funds are collected and invested with approved
counter-parties.




Accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are set out on pages 68
to 71. During the year, the Group has adopted two new
accounting standards. The Group has accounted for the
groupreorganisationundertaken during the yearin
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 6"Aquisition
andMergers”(“FRS 6") and has elected to adopt early
Financial Reporting Standard 20 “Share based payments”
(“FRS 20").For further details of these two accounting
policies see pages 68 and 70. All other accounting policies
are consistent with those applied in previous periods.

The Group willbe required to adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRS) from 1 April 2005 and are
currently completing an assessment of the impact of IFRS
ontheresults for the year ended 31 March 2005.

Contracts with Controlling Shareholder

The Group has various contracts onanarm’s length basis

and onnormal commercial terms with various members

of the Virgin Group. The most important of these are:

- therelationship agreement between the Company,
Bluebottle Investments (UK)Limited and others dated
20 July 2004 whichwas entered into to comply with the
Listing Rules and generally governs therelationship
between the Virgin Group and Virgin Mabile;

-the VirginMobile trade mark license agreement between
VirginEnterprises Limited and Virgin Mobile Telecoms
Limited dated 2 July 2004 is an agreement that grants
Virgin Mobile therights to use certain Virginrelated and
certain Virgin Mobile marks inrelation to its business
activities; and

- theretail stores agreement between Virgin Retail
Group Limited, Virgin Retail Limited and Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited with effect from1April 2004 pursuant
towhich Virgin Mobile has the right to advertise,
promote and sellits products and services in specified
Virgin Megastoresinthe United Kingdom.




OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Unaudited half year comparatives’

Fullyear Firsthalf Second half

Pro farma' Profarma' Proforma'

To 31 Mar to31Mar To30Sept  to30Sept To 31 Mar to31Mar
2005 2004 2004 2003 2005 2004

£million €million  %change £ million Emillion  %change £million Emitlion  Y%change

Financial operating data’

Service turnover 4576 3940 16% 2307 184.9 25% 226.9 209 9%
Equipment turnover 637 593 7% 260 226 15% 377 367 3%
Total turnover 5213 4533 15% 2567 2075 24% 2646 245.8 8%
Service gross profit 280.7 2467 14% 1434 n73 22% 137.3 129.4 6%
Equipment gross profit {61.0) (51.0) 20% (27.5) (20.2) 36% (33.5) (30.8) 9%
Total gross profit 2197 1957 12% 115.9 971 19% 103.8 986 5%
Service gross margin 613%  626% (13pp) 622% 634% (1.2pp} 605% 61.9% {1.4pp)
Gross margin 421%  432% (lpp) 451%  468% {17pp} 38.2% 401%  (0.9pp)

Administrative expenses

before depreciation

(194)  (117.0) 2% (605)  (575) 5%  (589)  (59.5) (1%)

EBITDA? 100.3 787 27% 554 396 40% 449 391 15%
EBITDA margin 19.2% 17.4% 1.8pp 216% 19.1% 2.5pp 17.0% 159% 11pp
Change inworking capital (4.3} 18.4 (123%}) {3.8) (3.6} 6% (0.5) 220 (102%)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (11.5) (14.7) (22%) (5.7} {8.9) (36%) (5.8} (5.8} 0%
Operating free cashfiow* 84.5 824 3% 459 271 69% 386 553 (30%)
Operating free cashflowmargin 16.2% 18.2% (20pp) V7.9% 131% 4 8pp 146%  225% {(7.9pp)
EBITDA? 100.3 78.7 27% 554 396 40% 449 391 15%
Depreciation (17.4) (15.5) 12% (8.1 (6.4} 27% (8.3) (8.1) 2%
Operating profit 82.9 63.2 31% 47.3 33.2 42% 356 30.0 19%
Operating profitmargin 158% 13.9% 2.0pp 184%  16.0% 2.4pp 13.5% 12.2% 1.3pp
Underlying earnings per share® 18.4p 15.0p 23% N.7p 7.8p 50% 6.7p 7.2p {7%)
Net debt 2342 303.3 (23%) 264.1 3554 (26%) 2342 303.3 (23%)

Nates for unaudited half year comparatives and unaudited quarterly non-financial eperating data

1
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0n 28 January 2004, we entered inta the TSA with our network provider, T-Mobile. Until 28 January 2004, under our previous T5A, T-Mobile paid MSC, being a monthly
amount based on the number of customers in that manth, which we recognised as turnover. From that date. instead of paying MSC, T-Mabile now passes through the
inbound revenue they receive framthird parties in respect of inbound calls, or messages sent. to our customers, which we recognise as turnover. Also. under the new TSA,
the charges we pay to T-Mabife for use of their network are different to the charges under the previous TSA. The above results. including ARPU and non-voice service
turnover 2s a percentage of service turnover, have been prepared as if the new TSA had been operations! from 1 Aprit 2003,

All financial results are shown before exceptional items.

Due to ourlowievels of capital investment, we believe that operating profitis a useful measure of profitability we achieve with our asset base. In addition, we believeitis
ausefulmeasure for some investors to determine our operating cash flow and historical ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure requirements. EBITDA is
presentedbecause it is a standard financiat metric used in our industry. EBITDA consists of profit before finance charges {net). tax on profit on ordinary activities and
depreciation and amortisation. EBITDA is not ameasure of financial performance under UK GAAP, US GAAP or 1AS and should not be considered as an aiternative to cash
fiow from operating activities, a measure of liquidity or an alternative to net profit as indicators of our operating performance or any other measures of performance
derived in accordance with UK GAAR, US GAAP or IAS.

Operating free cash flow is defined as EBITDA before exceptionalitems, adjusted for changes inworking capital and less capital expenditure,

Underlyingearnings per share isbased on the results before exceptional items and a normalised tax charge based on our effective tax rate of 30% of pre-tax profits.
Total connected sims/customers are shown at the relevant dates. Churnrates, ARPU, non-voice service turnover as a percentage of service turnover, annual MOU per
customer and annual SMS per customer are based on information in the preceding tweleve months from the relevant dates. Net connected sims/customer additions,
SAC per gross addition and capital expenditure as a percentage of turnover are based oninfarmation during the relevant period.

ARPU and non-voice service turnover as a percentage of service turnover are not shown for the periods ended 3C September 2003 and 31 December 2003 as results have
beenbased onpro forma results assuming the new TSA had beenoperational from | April 2003 and therefore there is not a full twelve manths of information based an the
new TSA prior to these dates.




Unaudited half year comparatives (continued)

Fyllyear First half Second half
Profarma' Profarma’ Proforma'
To31Mar To31Mar To305Sept To30Sept To 31 Mar To 31 Mar
2005 2004  %change 2004 2003  %change 2005 2004  %change
Non-financial operating data*®
Total connected sims (000s) 53599 39615 35% 46090 31833 45% 53599 39615 35%
Net connected sims additions
{D00s) 13984 13244 6% 647.5 501.2 29% 7508 8232 (9%}
Churnrate (%) 17.5% 14.0% 3.5pp 14.3% 16.0% (17pp}  175% 14.0% 3.5pp
Total 90 day active customers
(000s) 40319 32415 24% 36037 25835 39% 40319 32415 24%
Net 90 day active customer
additions (000s) 790.4 1,0531 (25%) 3622 395.1 (8%) 4282 658.0 (35%)
Average revenue
Per User (“ARPU")(E) £127 £147 (14%) £137 N/AT N/AT £127 £147 (14%)
Non-voice service turnover as a
percentage of service turnover (%) 312%  28.0% 32pp  29.0% N/AY N/A 31.2%  28.0% 3.2pp
Annual Minutes of Use (“MOU")
per customer (minutes) 775 884 {12%) 831 933 (11%) 775 884 12%)
Annual SMS per customer
(SMS messages) 614 686 (10%) 667 675 {19} 614 686 (10%)
Subscriber Acquisition Costs
{“SAC") per gross addition (£) £26 £25 4% £26 £26 0% £26 £24 8%
Capitalexpenditureasa
percentage of total turnover (%) 2.1% 3.2% (11pp) 2.2% 43%  (21pp) 19% 23%  (Q4pp)
Unaudited quarterly non-financial operating data**
To31Dec To 31Mar To30Jun  To30Sept To31Dec To 31 Mar
2003 2004 2004 2004 2004 2005
Total connected sims (000s) 36785 39615 42487 46090 50255 53589
Net connected sims additions(OOOs) 540.2 283.0 287.2 360.3 416.5 3344
Churnrate (%) ' 13.8% 140%  152% 14.3% 16.2% 17.5%
Total 90 day active customers (300s) 31012 32415 33918 36037 38795 40319
Net 80 day active customer additions (000s) 517.7 140.3 150.3 219 2758 152.4
Average Revenue Per User ("ARPU"}(£) N/A £147 £142 £137 £132 £127
Non-voice service turnover o
as apercentage of service turnover (%) N/AT - 280%  287% 290%  297% 31.2%
Subscriber Acquisition Costs ("SAC") per gross addition {£) £24 £30 £28 £24 £28 £23




QPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Pro formaresults reconciliation
The following shows areconciliation between our non-statutory auditedresults, as presented in our listing particulars
For our PO in July 2004, and our unaudited pro forma results for the twelve months ended 31 March 2004:

Pro forma
To 31Mar To 31 Mar
2004 Adjustments 2004
£ million Emillion Notes £ million
Turnover before exceptional items 4704 (171) 1 4533
Exceptional turnover 17.2 {8.3) 1 89
Turnover - ' o 4876 (254) 1 4622
Costofsales (255.8) (1.8) 2 (2578)
Gross Profit 2318 (27.2) 1,2 2046
Total administrative expenses before exceptional items ‘ (132.5) - o (325) |
Exceptional operating costs , {23.5) - (23.5)
Administrative expenses A e T (1560)
Operatingprofitbeforeexceptionalitems S 8z1 (189) 632
Exceptional items (net) » . (6.3 (8.3 (14.6}
Operating profit v 75.8 272) 486
Finance charges (net) (9.6} - 3 (9.6)
Profit onordinary activities before taxation 66.2 (27.2) 39.0
Tex onprofitonordinary activities 271 (38.8) 4 m.7)

Profit for the financial year 933 (66.0) 273




The following shows areconciliation between our non-statutory audited earnings per share and our unaudited

pro forma earnings per share for the twelve months ended 31 March 2004:

Proforma

To31Mar To 31 Mar

2004 Adjustments 2004

o £ million £ millian £ million
Profit for the financial year 933 {66.0) 273
Earnings per ordinary share {pence ~ based an 250 million shares: see note 5) 37.3p (264p)  109p
Profit for the financial year 933 (66.0) 273
Exceptional items 63 83 14.6
Taxeffectof exceptionalitems (1.9} (2.5) {4.4)
Underlying profit for the financial year 977 (60.2) 375
Underlying earnings per ordinary share (pence —based on 250 million shares: see note 5) 3S0p (241p)  150p

The following shows a reconciliation between our non-statutory operating free cash flow derived from our audited results
and our operating free cash flow derived from our unaudited pro formaresults for the twelve manths ended 31 March 2004:

Proforma

To 31Mar To31Mar

2004 Adjustments 2004

_____________ £ million £ million Emillion

Operating profit 75.8 {(27.2) 486
Exceptionalitems 6.3 83 146
Operating profit before exceptional items 821 {18.9) 632
Depreciation 155 - 155
Change inworking capital 18.4 - 184
Capitalexpenditure (14.7) - (14.7)
Operating free cash flow 101.3 {18.9) 824

1 On 28 fanuary 2004, we entered into the TSA with our network provider. T-Mabile. Until 29 January 2004, under the previous TSA, T-Mabile paid MSC, being a monthly

amount based on the number of customers in that month, which we recognised as turnover. From that date, instead of paying MSC, T-Mobile now passes through the

inbound revenue they receive from third parties inrespect af inbound calls. or messages sent. to our customers, which we recognise as turnover. The adjustment to

turnover {whichrelates entirely to service turnover) comprises the fallowing:

- Adjustment to turnover reflecting TSA of £17 1million: this adjustment to turnover reflects the reduction in turnover as if inbound revenue had been received for the
entire year instead of the MSC that was received;

-Reducedexceptional MSC payment of £8.3 million: this adjustmentreduces the service turnover for certain previously disputed MSC that relate ta that period. The total
exceptional turnoverreceived has beenallocated to therelevant periods prorata to the actual amounts calculated ta be invoiced in those periods.

Under the new TSA. the charges we pay to T-Mobile for use of their network are different to the charges under our previous telecommunications supply agreement.

The adjustmentreflects the impact as if the revised charges had been used for the entire period.

No adjustments have beenmade to finance charges as itis assumed that any changes in aperating profit would have been mirrored by changes inworking capitat.

The adjustment to the tax charge reflects the change in profit and normalises that tax charge for the period at the effective tax rate of 30%.

Due to thegraup reorganisation as described onpage 68. the number of ordinary shares used ta calculate earnings per share for the twelve manths ended 3t March 2004

isbased onthe 250.000.000 ordinary shares inissue following the group reorganisatian.

~
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QPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Commercial Risk

Our ability to provide our services is dependent on
maintaining our Telecommunications Supply Agreement
(TSA) or securing an agreement with other operators

for network services.

Our current TSA with T-Mobile is aminimum ten year
contract.We currently rely solely onourlong-term
TSAwith T-Mobile for the voice, non-voice, and other
telecommunications services we provide to

our customers.

We face increasing competition from new and existing
mobile services providers.

We face the possibility of further competitionwith the
entry of new MVNOs or re-sellers that may be attracted
by the low capital intensity of such business models and
otherlowbarriers to entry.

Competition from alternative technologies may reduce
our turnover and profitability.

We may face competition from communications
technologies that areunder development or that willbe
developedinthe future,including wireless technologies
and private and radio-shared networks.

Alleged healthrisks associated with mobile
telecommunications could [ead to decreased usage

of our services and products and potential liability.

In January 2005 the National Radiclogical Protection
Boardpublished areview updating their earlierreport
publishedin 2000. The main conclusionwas that there was
no hard evidence at present that the health of the public,
ingeneral, was being affected adversely by the use of
mobile phone technologies, but uncertainties remained
and a continued precautionary approachto their use was
recommended until the situation is further clarified.
However, public concern about the perceived healthrisks
of mobile communications could have a detrimental impact
on our business by casting our services or productsina
negative light, making it difficult toretain or attract
customers, or reducing use of our products.

We may suffer from operational strains associated
withrapid growthif not managed properly.

Our turnover and operations may suffer if we donot
effectively manage our growth. Our ability to sustain our
growthwillrequire continued investment in personnel
and operations, as well as effective management of our
financial policies andrelations with third parties who
provide services tous.

Werely on third parties to distribute our products

and procure subscribers for our services.

Qur ability to distribute products and services depends,

to alarge extent, on securing and maintaining a number

of key distribution partners. These third party distributors
sellour handsets and service packs and procure customers
for our services. However, these third parties procure
customers for our competitors (and, in some cases,
themselves)as well, and they may have incentives to
encourage potential customersto subscribe to our
competitors services rather than our own.

Network interruptions, poor service or service slowdowns
may result inreduced user traffic, reduced turnover and
harm to our reputation and business operations.

Our ability to provide services depends significantly upon
the performance of our systems and the systems pravided
tous through contracts entered intowith third parties
(directly by us orindirectly), including mabile network
operators and fixed-line operators, such as those who
provide connectivity to our customer call centres.

We are licensed to use our name and brand but do
notownit.

The Virgin and Virgin Mobile names and brands are owned
by VirginEnterprises Limited, a Virgin Group company, and
we are licensed touse those names andbrands inthe UK,
Ireland, the Isle of Man and the Channellslands. The term
of the VirginMabile Licence Agreement is 30 years and

we haverights to negotiate arenewal of the Virgin Mobile
Licence Agreement.




Theinterests of our controlling shareholder may not
always coincide with ourinterests or theinterests

of our other shareholders.

Although we currently enjoy and anticipate a strong
relationship with the Virgin Group, our business goals

and those of Virginmay not always coincide. The business
activities and strategies of Virgin, or future developments
in the mobile communications industry, may result in
conflicts ofinterest orlead to competitionbetweenus.

Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Risk

Legal Proceedings

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries are currently
involved in any significant or material legal proceedings
that have or could significantly affect their financial
position.

Regulatory Risks

We must comply with an extensiverange of requirements
thatregulate and supervise thelicensing, provision and
operationof our services. If we fail to comply with our
regulatory obligations, the ultimate regulatory sanction
is suspension of theright to provide services, which would
preventus from carrying on our business.

Third parties onwhom we depend, such as providers of
mobite network services, are also required to comply with
these and additional requlatory requirements. If these
third parties fail to comply with their ownregulatory
obligations, theirrights to operate networks and provide
services are also capable of being suspended or otherwise
affected adversely.

Regutatory Intervention in Call Termination Rates
Following aregulatory process which started in 2001,

alt of the UK mobile network operators were requiredin
2003 tomake reductions to the charges they levy on

other operators for terminating calls on their networks.
Following acomprehensive review of the wholesale mobile
voice call termination market, Ofcom decidedin june 2004
toimpose further significant reductions inwholesale
mobile voice communication termination charges for the
period September 2004 to March 2006. Ofcom’s decision
onmobile call termination charges represents, as at June
2004, afurtherreduction of approximately 33.4%in
T-Mobile’s average termination charges. The regulator will
review market conditions and the need for regulationor
other alternatives again in 2006 and may decide at that
time to continue or increase these price controls,orto
impose analternative remedy. The requirement to reduce
these charges will, inturn, directly reduce the turnover

we receive from calls made to our subscribers by the
same percentage.

RoamingEnquiry

In 2000, the European Commission began the second phase
of anenquiry into roaming charges for mobile calls made
abroad toinvestigate whether mobile communications
network providers charged excessive prices for
international roaming. In July 2004 the Commissionissued
two separate”statements of objections” to 02 and Vodafone
and two further “statements of objections” to T-Mobile and
Vodafone in Germany. The abjections relate to the rates
that the operators charged other mobile network
operators forinternational roaming at wholesale level.

Itis possible that the Commissionwill conclude that the
level of roaming charges is uncompetitively high, and this
willresult inaregulatory requirement to reduce roaming
charges, or the operators will voluntarily reduce roaming
charges. This may have a negative affect on the revenues
we are able to generate from our customers using their
phones outside the United Kingdom.

E-money Regulation

The European Unionhas passedtegislation (Directive
2000/46/EC) (the E-Money Directive), one of the aims of
whichis to harmonise national regulation of theissue of
electronic money (e-money). This legislation has been
implementedin the United Kingdom, and the European
Commission and the relevant UK regulator (the Financial
Services Authority, or FSA}have both consulted on the
applicationof this iegislation to prepay telephony (in
particular mobile services). In the United Kingdom, issuers
of e-maney above acertainvalue arerequired tobe
authorised by the FSA. Issuance of e-money without
authorisationis acriminal affence under the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000, and agreements madein
contravention of the requirement to be authorised may be
unenforceable. Consultation papers published by the FSA
have suggested that the FSA may interpret theuse of
prepay airtime in some circumstances to buy goods and
services as the use of e-money, so that the provider of
prepay airtime becomes anissuer of e-maney.

Thereis currently uncertainty in this area, but if services
we currently provide, or provide in future, are classified as
e-money under the E-Money Directive, we may be required
tobecomeregulated as an“electronic money institution”
inorder to issue e-money, which would impose specific
regulationon our management and capital requirements,
including as to the use to which pre-payments may be put.




CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
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Highlights

-Virgin Mobite IPO July 2004 - all eligible employees
givenshares

- Added to FTSE4Good Index and SRi portfolios of several
investment funds

-Environmental management programmes significantly
reduce energy use despite staffincreases

- Commitment toinitiatives promating safe and secure
mobile phane use

Our customers

AtVirgin Mobile, the customer experienceisintegralto
everythingwe do. It's the cornerstone of our success. Virgin
Mobile - and the Virgin Group of companies —has built a
thriving enterprise based on being a Consumer Champion.

In our minds, being a responsible company is just good
business sense. It leads to the growth and success of the
businessinthelonger term. That's why our commitment to
customers goes beyond just fair treatment — you'd expect
that fromany reputable arganisation. We aim to give our
customers something special - to champion their needs.

Since entering the marketin1993, we've madeit our
mission to challenge accepted market norms for the
benefit of consumers.

VESTHATBEING
HERIGHTWAY FORWARD -

A R&ﬁ?@%&%&iE CORPORATE

TALSOMAKES

We're constantly looking to improve our customer
relations. Qur customer service teamis avaitable 24 hours
aday, 7days aweek and we commissionregular customer
satisfaction surveys. The April 2005 figuresindicate that,
out of all the UK mobile operators, Virgin Mobile has the
highest percentage of extremely satisfied customers.
These findings were supported by anindependent survey
by JO Power & Associates, which found we had the most
satisfied customers inthe UK for the second yearinarow.
We're committed to promoting the safe andresponsible
use of mobiles. We have produced web-based quides onthe
healthissues surrounding mobile phone use, and we
closely monitor the latest research onanongoingbasis.

We want our customers to be able touse their mobile
phones free from worry about the kind of content that they
or their childrenmay gainaccess to, and free from the fear
of crime. Last year, along with the five other UK mobile
network operators, Virgin Mobile established a voluntary
code of practice, the UK Cade of practice for the self-
regulation of new forms of content onmobiles, to restrict
the availability of unsuitable content to customers under
the age of 18. Our marketing campaigns are designed to
appeal to both young and young-at-heart customers,
however, we do not actively promote the use of mobile
phenes by children.

We canblack lost or stalen Virgin Mobile phones,
preventing them beingused across alt UK networks,

and therefore making them unsaleable by thieves. We're
alsoworkingclosely withboththe Home Office and the
Police through therecently created National Mobile
Phone Crime Unit.




TV presenters Richard Baconand
NatashaKaplinsky hosted Virgin
Mabile's staff conferences. The
events enable staff to ask questions
to themanagement teamand to

We pride ourselves on accurate billing, and have complied
with Ofcom's metering and billing requirements, designed
to ensure customers are charged correctly.

QOur people

Our people are the soul of our business. We encourage
themto get the most out of their careers, and to enjoy
being part of a successful team. We seek toemploy
talented, motivated people, irrespective of their age, sex,
sexual orientation, physical abilities or religious beliefs.

Our policyis consistent inencouraging the disabled to
apply for any openvacancies at Virgin Mobile, and to
support successful applicants with all necessary training.
We believe that the training, career development and
promationof disabled persons should, as far as possible,
be identical with that of other employees. In the event of
astaff member becoming disabled, we make every effort
to ensure that their employment continues and that any
training neededis arranged.

STAFF BREAKDOWN MARCH 2005
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share in future plans.

We believe in clear communication and consultation with
employees onmatters that affect them - from the working
environment to the company's performance. We have an
Employee Forum that consists of elected employees
thatrepresent the concerns and interests of staff to
management. We conduct employee satisfaction surveys
twice ayear, with over two-thirds of employees regularly
reporting that they find the work atmosphere‘upbeat’ or
‘pretty good.inthe last survey in November 2004, 87% of
employees gave a positive assessment of job satisfaction
at Virgin Mobile.

When we floated the business in July 2004, we gave all
eligible Virgin Mobile employees shares in the Company
as a'thank you' for their hard work and commitment. We
runascheme that makes it easy for any new VirginMobile
employee to become ashareholder inthe Company. Save
As You Earnenables employees to make regular savings
withanoption to buy shares at the end of a three year plan.

-----
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

VirginMobileis also very active inkeeping employees

up to date regarding our operational and financial
performance. Our Chief Executive writes aletterto
employees about the Company's results when they are
reported. We also webcast our annual results presentation
- and encourage employees ta watchit - as wellas
distributing our interim and annual reports to employees.
Employees are encauragedto discuss company strategy,
results and goals at staff conferences and through

other communications.

Aswellas offering a competitive benefits package, we
provide our staff with astimulating and supportive working
environment that reflects the value we place onthemas
individuals. Our commitmenthas regularly ledus to be
placed among the top places to work in the UK, and in 2005
we were includedin The Sunday Times Top 100 Best Places
toWork inBritain. We make every effort to keep our people
abreast of the progress of the business and their
contributiontoit, includingreguiar updates onnew
initiatives and business performance.

Health and safety

Weplacegreatimportance onhealthandsafety

and conduct all of our operationsinsuchaway as to
safeguard the heaithand safety of employees, visitors
and the general public.

We've aimed at creating a working environment inwhich
thereis anawareness of the vitalimportance of health
and safety. We encourage all employees to participatein
developing and practising safe working methods and to
have aregardfar the welfare of themselves and others,

Our suppliers

We work closely with our suppliers to ensure that they have
responsible attitudes towards the environment and their
communities. We have a clear procurement policy and look
to suppliers that alsc have a comprehensive set of business
policies oncorporaterespaonsibility issues. We expect
themto treat their employees withrespect and dignity

and to work towards improving their ownsocial and
environmental management performance. The UN
Universal Declaration of Human Rights guides our

working practices.

One of our main concerns surrounds the manufacture

of mobile phones and accessories in countries with
{essrigorous human rights records. We have a strict
procurement policy and have developed a dialogue with
our suppliers to ensure that they are clearasto our
policies inthese areas. We have encouraged our suppliers
to work withmanufacturers toimprove conditions if they
believe that there are humanrights abuses taking place
inany of their facilities.

We intend to develop a supplier audit programme over
the comingyear to ensure that our suppliers continue
to improve their practices in these areas.

o

Whtﬁng with us. |
A guide for suppliers,
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Our clear pracurement policy to
suppliers has acomprehensive set
of business palicies on carporate
responsibility issues.




Theenvironment

Virgin Mobile aims to minimise waste, promote recycling
and source base materials fromrenewable sources across
its operations. Were committed to the latest initiatives to
minimise the impact of our business onthe environment.
Forexample, we are currently working towards compliance
withthe Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE)
Directivein advance of its implementationinthe UK.

There are more than 50 million mobile phonesin
circulationin the UK and thousands of phones become
unwanted every year.

Virgin Mobile helps its customers to recycle unwanted
maobiles through the Fonebak scheme. Customers simply
send the mobile and any accessories to Fonebak ina
Freepost envelope provided by Virgin Mobile. Used mobiles
are put back into circulation wherever possible, oftenin
developing countries, while units that are beyond repair
are disposed of inanenvironmentally responsible fashion.
We donate £5 to the BritishRed Cross for eachreusable
handset that we receive through the Fanebak scheme.

VIRGIN MOBILE FONEBAK SCHEME
OCTOBER 2002-DECEMBER 2004

Totat mobiles coliected

5880 3,265

reysed

We also strive to be environmentally responsible inour
day-to-day business. Recentinitiatives have cut our energy
consumption at ourhead office despite increasesin
staffing levels. For example, we use energy-efficient
fluorescent lighting, and a lighting control computer to
reduce light levels when buildings have low occupation.

Qur literature is printed on paper produced from
sustainable forests and the inks used are vegetable
oil-based and from renewable resources.

We are working in close partnership with Shields
Environmental, one of the UK’s foremost specialist
consuttancies in adopting good environmental practice
inthe telecommunications industry. Working with them,
we aim to set benchmarks and further internal verification
processes of our efforts in environmental responsibility.

2,615

recycled in environmentally
responsible fashion




CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

The community

Alot of our work inthe community concerns issues relating
to mobile phone crime and health. These are coveredin the
‘Our Customers’sectionabove.

We already engage inanumber of charitable endeavours,
andinthe 2005/06 financial year, we ptanto expand our
charitable commitments.

We are active in our partnership withVirgin Unite, the
charitable foundation set up by Virgin Group to make a
meaningful difference tointernational andlocal issues.
Individual Virgincompanies nominate local charities to
support and afl the Virgin companies concentrate their
effort behind the selected local charities. Internationally,
VirginUnite supports the reduction of the Big 3killers
{AIDS, malariaand TB)in Africa. Virgin Unite is now
establishedin the USA and South Africa as well as the UK.

Virgin Mobile employees have workedin South Africa
and withthe UK charities, as well as helping Virgin Unite
setup with copywriting, design and web design skitls.
Two members of the management teamsiton the
Virgin Unite steering committee.

We also provide ongoing financial support to a number of
charities such as the Red Cross, and call centre assistance
to various mass appeals. In thelast year we have supported
the Tsunami appeal and Comic Relief inthis way. Weare a
founding member of the Telephone Helpline Users
Association, which provides free numbers to arange of
charities. Over the medium-to long-term, Virgin Mobile
alms to contribute 1% of pre-tax profits to charity.

Charitable contributions

For our 2005 financial year, we have committed £200,000
to be donated to charity, which has not yet been allocated.
Below are the charitable donations Virgin Mobile has
made thus far during the financial year.

DonationtoRelate £6.450
Donation toHelp the Aged £1.000
Donationto Great Ormond St £1,000
AdamDealey Golf Day £960
George Frew Memorial 3 Peaks Challenge £400

Inadditionto the charitablie work as a company, four
charities are selected by our staff eachyear for other
fundraising efforts. They are currentty the NSPCC,
CancerResearch UK, the Wiltshire Air Ambulance, and
Babe Charity (an appeal to fund a new children's hospice
inthe South West).

We also encourage staff to support individual charities

cf their choice through the inland Revenue-approved Give
As YouEarnscheme. The payreli-based scheme enables
employees to gain taxrelief on their charitable donations.

Our links with the local community extend beyond donating
tocharity, of course. We are in our second year of
spansoring Creative Factory, amusic-making project for
young people in the South West that is part of the Bath
Festivals Trust. As aresult of our links with the project,
VirginMobile staff receive tickets to Creative Factory
events and benefit from staff music workshops.

FTSE4Goad Index

During the past year, Virgin Mobile became a constituent
member of the FTSE4Good Index. The Index measures the
performance of companies that meet globally recognised
corporate responsibility standards and facilitates
investment in those stocks. The inclusioncriteria are
regularly revised toensure that they reflect standards

of responsible business practice.

Managing CR

Virgin Mobile manages many aspects of its corporate
responsibility through its Risk Forum, reporting directly
to the Board via the Chief Financial Officer. Theirroleis to
ensure that all business risks are identified, reportedand
addressed. Thisincludes an assessment of relevant social,
ethical and environmental risks to the Company.

Aninitial assessment is made by the CFO, the Commercial
Birector and the Head of Financial Control. This initial
assessment is reviewed by the Risk Forum which amends
andagrees the identified risks, measures theirimportance
andagrees acourse of action to minimise them.

The Risk Forummet twice during the last financial year

(in September 2004 and February 2005). The reports from
the Risk Forum meetings cover all major social, ethical and
environmentalrisks and outline a suggested course of
action for improvement. Eachreport s presented ta and
reviewed by the Audit Committee.



Our future

We have spent the eight months since our IPO checking
that wehave suitableinternal control and management
systemsinplace to manage corporate responsibility for
apublic company of our size. We have identified several
areas that couldbe improved and will be implementing
these changes over the coming year. Chief among these
improvements will be the establishment of aCR committee
to meet ona quarterly basis and provide reqular updates
ta the Board.

Wewill also be using external consultants to helpus
improve some of our internal audit and certification
processes during 2005/06 and to set more detailed
targets for our sacial and environmental management
performance. Wealso intend to more fully comply with
AB! guidelines as will be highlighted in future corporate
responsibility publications. The ultimate aimis to audit
all of our corporate responsibility activities.

As detailed in this summary, we have been building
Boardinvolvementinthe corporateresponsibility area.
We will continue to imprave Board level reporting and
responsibility over the coming year. The next annual report
willinclude anupdate on our progress in these fields.

Thisisanoverview of some of our Corporate
Responsibility efforts. To view our full repert, including
past accomplishments, detalded measurements and our
goals for the future, please download our full report at
http://about.virginmobile.com/about/esr/




Thomas Simon Alexander, 46
Chief Executive Officer

Mr Alexander was afounder of the
conceptof VirginMobile. As CEQ of
Virgin Mobile he was instrumental
inthe launch and development of
the Company. Mr Alexanderhas
aver 18years experience in the
telecommunications industry.
Priar tojoining Virgin Mabite he
spent severalyears at BT Celinet,
becoming Deputy Commercial
Director. AtBT Cellnet. he was
involvedin the Celinet Barclaycard
alliance. Prior to BT Cellnet,

Mr Alexander worked as a Business
Development Manager and
Divisional Manager for various
companies within the Swedish
Telecoms Group (Telia}in Europe
and the US. Before thishe worked
for various campanies within the
field of industrial robotics.He
startedhis career as aprofessional
racing driver havingbeensemi-
professional asaschoolboy. As a
member of the BritishKarting team
he won the European Championship
andwas ranked seventhin the world.

David OssianMaloney, 49
Non-Executive Director
MrMaloney joined VirginMobile in
June 2004. Mr Maloney was most
recently CFO of Le MeridienHotels
andResorts, from January 2002

to January 2004. Prior ta this, he
worked as Group Finance Director
of Thomson Trave! Group before
beingpramoted to CFO of Thomson
Travel Group and Preussag Airfines
in 2001. Between1987and 1999,
MrMaloney worked for Avis Europe
plcinseveral dif ferent positions
including Group Finance Director,
Managing Director (Spain) and
Finance Director {UK). MrMaloney
beganhis career at Mobil Oil
Corporation where he occupied
various aperating. financial and
planning roles and later spent two
years at Paramount Pictures
Corporationas controller for
Paramount Pictures international
and Director of Internationat Liaison.
MrMaloneyis also aDirector of
Micro Focus International plic.

Gerdon Douglas McCalium, 45
Non-ExecutiveDirector

Mr McCallum began working with
the VirginGroupin 1996 as an
independent consultant focusing
onthe strategic development

of Virgin'sinterestsin financial
services.{n1988 MrMcCallum
joined Virgin full-time as Group
Strategy Director. Since thenhe
hasbeenheavily involved inthe
development of Virgin's activities
inmobile communications in the
United Kingdom, the United
States and Australia. In addition,
MrMcCallumisadirectorofa
number of other Virgin businesses.
Prior tojaining Virgin. he spent
five yearswithMcKinsey in San
Francisco and five years prior

to that with Baringsin London.
MrMcCallum holds anMBA from
Wharton and anMA from Oxford
University.

AlanMackenzie Gow, 50
ChiefFinancial Officer

Mr Gow joinedas CFQ of Virgin
Mobitein February 1998 from
One20ne. He hadjoined One20nein
1995 as Head of Business Planning
& Control, where he was invalvedin
the strategic review andrefinancing
of the company.Mr Gow has also
worked as Head of Finance for
One20ne’s Commercial operation,
involvedin the launch of the prepay
billingmedelin the UK. and was part
of the teamthat put together the
original Virgin T-Mobile joint
venture. Mr Gow previously held
senior financial roles with Hilton
international, Perrier. and Scottish
&Newcastle plc. He holds anMBA
withdistinction fromManchester
Business Schocland is amember

of the Chartered|institute of
Management Accountants,



Caroline Anne Marland, 53
Non-Executive Director

Ms Marland joined VirginMobile
inJune 2004. Between1976 and
1994, MsMarland held a series of
management roles with Guardian
Newspapers including Deputy
Managing Director and
Advertisement Director.In1994,
Ms Marland was appointed as
Managing Director of Guardian
newspaper group. With this
appointment, Ms Marlandbecame
the firstfemale UK managing
director of a national newspaper.
Ms Marland is currently anon-
executive director of Burberry
GroupplcandBank of Ireland.
She has also beenanon-executive
director of Gallaher Groupple,
Arcadia Group and Burton Group,
amember of the Competition
Commission's Newspaper Panel
andamember of the Government
Committee on Advertising
Standards,

Alexander Rupert Gavin. 50
Non-Executive Director

Rupert Gavinjoined VirginMobile
in June 2004.Mr Gavinis currently
Non-Executive Chairmanof the
Contender Entertainment Group
anddirector of the Ambassador
Theatre Group. Until October 2004
hewas CEQ at BBC Worldwide and
was respansible for growing
substantially the cash flow benefits
of the BBC's commercial activities.
Prior to the BBC. Mr Gavinwas
Managing Director of BT's
Consumer Division. Leadingup BT's
activity in the consumer marketin
theUKhe pioneered BT's activities
inthe multimedia andinternet
fields. Prior to BT, Mr Gavinwas
Deputy Managing Director of
Dixons Stores Group. He is Vice
President and fellow of the Royal
Television Society.

Charles Mark Gurassa, 49
Chairman

Mr Qurassajoined Virgin Mobile

in June 2004. With over 27 years

of management experience inthe
traveland tourismindustries,hehas
served on the boards of UK plcs
since 1999. Between 1999 and 2000
Mr Gurassawas Chief Executive

of Thomson Travel Group plc.
Following their acquisitionby TUI
AGin2000hejoined the TUI Board
as Executive Chairman of TUI
Northern Europe and Airlines
Group. Between1983and 1999

he held numerous roles at British
Airways plc, including Director

of Passenger and Cargo Business.
Mr Gurassastarted hiscareer
in1978 at Thomas Cook Group
Limited. Heis also anon-executive
director of Whitbreadplc,
Chairman of HR consultancy
7days Ltd, Chairman of Worldwide
Excellerated Leasing Limitedand a
trustee of the charity Whizz-Kidz.

jonathan Douglas Hankin Steel, 39
Commercial Director

Mr Steeljoined VirginMobilein
February 1333 as Marketing
Directorand was responsible for
the Virgin Mobile proposition to
customers. in 2003, Mr Steel was
appointed Commercial Director to
oversee the company’'s strategic
and commercial development. Prior
tojoining Virgin Mobile, Mr Steel
held positions as Head of Business
Development and Head of Mass
Marketing for BT Cellnet. During
this time he was responsible for
managing altaspects of BT Cellnet’s
propositionin the mass market and
for severalstrategic partnerships,
most notably with Barclaycard

and Midland Bank. Before joining
BT Celinet, he spent five years

at Arthur D Little wherehe
specialisedinconsultinginthe
telecornmunications and media
sectors and worked withclients
includingMicrotel (Orange}, BSkyB
and Cellnet.Mr Steelholds a
Masters Degreeinengineering
fromimperial Cotlege London.

He trained with Unliver plc.




The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31March 2005.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group comprise of the sale
of mobile phone handsets (direct to end customers,
distributors and to retailers) and the provision of mobile
telecommunicationservices. Virgin Mobile launchedits
operations as amobile virtual netwark operatar (MVNO)in
November 1999. As an MVNO, the Group operates a virtual
netwark providing a broad range of mobile communications
services toits customers over T-Mobile's netwark under
its minimum ten year term, telecommunications supply
agreement with T-Mabile signed in fanuary 2004. Amore
detailed overview of the business, including a review of
the development of the business of the Group, is set out on
pages 20 to 25 inthis Annual Report.Details of the Group’s
proposedexpansion anddevelopment is described on
pages 24 to 25 of this Annual Report. '

Results

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out onpage
64 of this Annual Report. The directors have proposed a
finaldividend for the year of 4.88 pence per ordinary share,
which, subject ta shareholder approval, will be payable on
25 July 2005 to shareholders ontheregister of members
at close of business on 10 June 2005. No interim dividend
was paid during the year ended 31March 2005.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the financial year
ended 31 March 2005 were:

SusannahParden resigned 16/06/2004
Jane Bullock resigned 14/06/2004
Tom Alexander appointed 16/06/2004
Alan Gow appointed 16/06/2004
JoeSteel appointed 16/06/2004
GordonMcCallum appointed 16/06/2004
Charles Gurassa appointed 28/06/2004
Caroline Marland appointed 28/06/2004
Rupert Gavin appointed 28/06/2004
David Maloney appointed 28/06/2004

Further details of the current directors are provided on
pages 44 to 45 of this Annual Report. All current directors
were appointed during the financial year ended 31March
2005. Details of the directors'service contracts andletters
of appointment for non-executive directors, share interests
and emoluments as at the year-end canbe foundin the
Remuneration Report onpages 59 to 60. There were

no changes inthe director's share interests from the
year-enduntil 26 May 2005.

Details of the long termincentive scheme knawn as
the Performance Share Plan and other employee share
schemes are set out in the RemunerationReport on
pages 561057,

Corporate governance

The Board supports high standards of corporate
governance. The Corporate Gavernance Reportis set out
on pages 48 to 53 of this Annual Report.

Share capital

A statement of changes in the share capital of

the Company is set outin Note 18 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Substantial shareholdings

At 24 May 2005, the following notifications had been
received by the Company inrespect of holdings of 3%
ormore of the Company'sissued share capitat:

ENCILY o
Biuebottle Investments (UK)

Shareholding Percentage

Limited (and its parent companies) 184238328  728%
Avivaplconbehalf of

Morley Fund Management 15,688,337 6.2%
Fidelity International Limited

and its direct and indirect subsidiaries 14,849 375 59%
Deutsche Bank AG andits subsidiaries 9.354,857 3.7%




The directers have not been notified, as at 24 May 2005,
of any other interest of 3% or more inthe ordinary share
capital of the Company. The directors are not aware of any
arrangements that could resultina change of control of
the Company.

Directors Interests

During the financial year ended 31 March 2005, no contracts
of significance were enteredinto inwhichany of the
directors had amaterialinterest.

Details of the directors’interestsinshares of the
Company as of 31 March 2005 are detailedin the
RemunerationReport.

Contracts with Controlling Shareholder

The Company has various contracts with members of the
Virgin Group including those set out on page 31 of this
Annual Report. During the year ended 31 March 2005,
none of the various contracts with members of the Virgin
Group constituted contracts of significance as defined by
the UK Listing Authority's Listing Rules.

Supplier payment policy

The Company's policy, whichis also applied by the Group,
istosettle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing
the terms of each transaction, ensure that suppliers are
made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the
terms of payment.

The Group had 28 days'purchases outstanding at
31March 2005 based on the average daily amount
invoiced by suppliers.

Employees
Pleaserefer tothe Corporate Responsibility Report
onpages 39to40.

Corporate responsibility

Adetailed summary of the Group’s corporate responsibitity
policy including the Group’s charitable donations and
community involvement is detailed at page 42. The Group
made no political donations during the year ended
31March 2005.

Auditors

Following arecommendation by the Audit Committee,
aresolution proposing the appointment of Deloitte

and Touche LLP as auditors to the Company for the next
financial year will be put to the Annual General Meeting
on 20 July 2005.

fnafurther measure to safequard auditor objectivity
andindependence, a policy onthe non-audit work that can
be carried out by the auditors has been proposed by the
Audit Committee and adopted by the Board.

Annual General Meeting

The notice of the Annual Genera! Meeting details the
resolutionstobe proposed at the Annuat General Meeting
tobe held on Wednesday. 20 July 2005. The notice together
with explanatory notes, are provided to shareholders with
this Annual Report.

Going concern :

The directars havereviewed the Group’s liquid resources
andborrowing facilities, and the Group's budget and cash
flow forecast for the year to 31March 2006. On the basis
of this review, the directors are satisfied that the Group
has adequate resources to cantinue inaperational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason,

the directors adopt the going-concernbasisinthe
preparation of the financial statements.

adeadila s

By Order of the Board
Paul Cowlishaw, Legal Director & Company Secretary
26May 2005




DIRECTORS'REPORT

REPORT

The Board supports highstandards of corporate governance.

The Company's ordinary shares are listed in the United
Kingdom onthe London Stock Exchange. As such, the
Companyisrequired to make adisclosure statement
concerningits application and compliance with the
Combined Code whilst listed.

For the period from the admission of the Company’s shares
tothe official list of the London Stock Exchange until
31March 2005, the directors confirm that the Company
has beenin compliance with the provisions of the
Combined Code effective for that accounting period
except as set out below. Gordon McCallum’s service
contract does not permit the Company to terminate his
service contract within twelve months or less. Thisis due
to the fact that Gordon McCallum’s appointmentis to
represent the views of the majority shareholder, Bluebottle
Investments (UK)Limited andis governed by an agreement
between the Company, Bluebottle investments (UK)
Limited and others dated 20 July 2004 (the "Relationship
Agreement”).His appointment will terminate automatically
by removal by Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited or
retirement or removal pursuant to the Company’s articles
of association and the Relationship Agreement.

The Company is also temporarily non-compliant with the
provision of the Combined Code concerning the number

of independent non-executive directors on the Board.
Atpresent the Board consists of eight directors, three

of which, excluding the Chairman, are independent non-
executive directors and the Company is actively looking
for afourthindependent non-executive director and an
appointment will be made as soon as a suitable candidate
isfound. Inaddition, the Board has not reviewed the
performance of the Nomination Committee, as the
committee only had two brief meetings during the year
ended 31March 2005.

The Board of Directors

TheBoardisrespaonsible for arganising and directing the
affairs of the Company and the Group inamanner that is
inthe bestinterests of the shareholders, meetslegal and
regulatory requirements andis consistent with good
corporate governance practices. Inparticular, the Board
isresponsible for:

- providing entrepreneurial leadership of the Company
withina framework of prudent and effective controls
whichenablerisk tobe assessed and managed:

-setting the strategic aims of the Company, ensuring that
the necessary financial and human resources are in place
for the Company to meet its objectives, and reviewing
management performance;

- setting the Company's values and standards and
ensuring that its obligations toits shareholders and
othersareunderstood and met.

TheBoard has specified mattersreservedtoitincluding
the approval of the annual operating plan, significant
expenditure or disposals, contracts of anonerous or
unusual nature and specified proposals that are required
to be considered by the shareholders of any of the
Companies inthe Group.

The Board comprises the Chairman {whois non-executive),
three executive directors (including Tom Alexander, the
Chief Executive Officer} and currently four non-executive
directors. itisthe Company's intention to appoint afifth
non-executive director as soonas it is practicable. The
divisionof responsibilities between the Chairman and

the Chief Executive Officer has beenset out inwriting

and agreed by the Board.

Charles Gurassa's role as Chairman, among other things, is
toensure good corporate governance. His responsibilities
include ieading the Board, ensuring the effectiveness of
the Boardin all aspects of the Board's role, the Board's
agenda, ensuring effective communicationwith
shareholders, ensuring new directors will receive a full,
formal and tailored induction onjoining the Board and
ensuring that all directors are encouraged and are enabied
to contribute fully to the activities and decisions of the




Board. Charles Gurassais also a non-executive chairman
of 7Days Limited and Worldwide Excellerated Leasing
Limited, and a non-executive director of Whitbread pic
and Whizz-Kidz Limited.

The Company regards Caroline Marland, Rupert Gavinand
David Maloney as independent non-executive directors,
withinthe meaning of “independent”as definedinthe
Combined Code. The Campany anticipates that the fifth
nan-executive director will also be independent. The
Company also regarded the Chairman as independent

as at the date of his appointment.

Virgin Group Investments Limited (throughits subsidiary
Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited) has theright to
nominate one non-executive director for appointment to
the Board. The first such directoris Gordon McCallum.

The Combined Code also recommends that the Board
should appoint one of its independent non-executive
directors tobe the senior independent director. The senior
independent director (s available to shareholders if they
have concerns that contact through the normal channels
of Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial
Officer has failed te resolve or for which such contact is
inappropriate. The Company's senior independent director
is Caroline Marland.

The current directors of the Company were appointed
befare the Company became a public limited company and
therefore did not require the approval of the shareholders.
Inaccordance with the Combined Code, all new directors
wiltbe subject to election by shareholders, at the first
annual general meeting after their appointment. All
directors, including current directors, are subject to
re-election thereafter at intervals of no more than
threeyears.

The three executive directors are also members of the
management team of the main operating company in the
Group, Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited {VMTL), along with
eight other key senior managers. The management team
manages the day-to-day activities of Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited. The three executive directors have
sufficient capacity to fulfill their roles at the Company
and Virgin Mabtle Telecoms Limited due to the overlap
betweentheseroles.

The Company maintains Directors’and Officers’Liability
fnsurance inrespect of legal action againstits directors.

During the financial year ended 31March 2005 and since the
Company's admission to the officiallist of the London Stock
Exchange, the Boardhad sixregular board meetings. ltis the
Company's intention that inany full financial year the Board
willmeet tentimes. Eachregular board meetingincludes a
Chief Executive’s overview, providing clear, accurate and
timely informationon the Group's business and other
activities since thelast meeting including forthcoming
initiatives withinthe Company. and a business performance
update, onindustry trends, sales performance and customer
activity. The respective chairpersons of the committees

of the Board also update the Board on the activities and
recommendations of the committees. Any directors who do
not attend aboard meeting still receive the documentation
for that meeting. The Board alsa appoints ad hoc
committees from time to time to deal with specificmatters.

If necessary for the directors of the Board to discharge
theirresponsibilities as directors or in connection with the
affairs of the Company, they may, in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, receive independent
professional advice at the Company's expense.

Attendance

During the financial year to 31 March 2005 and since the
Company was admitted to the official list of the London
Stock Exchange there were six regular meetings of the
Board, three meetings of the Audit Committee and three
meetings of the Remuneration Committee. There were also
two brief meetings of the Nomination Committee. Individual
directors’attendance at the Board meetings and Board
committee meetings was as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee

Director Meetings  Meetings Meetings Meetings
Charles Gurassa 6 N/a N/a 2
Tom Alexander 6 N/a 3* *
Alan Gow 6 3* 1% N/a
JoeSteel 6 N/a N/a N/a
Caroline Mariand 5 3 3 2
Rupert Gavin 6 3 3 i
David Maloney 6 3 3 2
Gordon McCallum 6 3% N/a 2*

*Invited to some meetings, but notrequired to attend as not @ member
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Non-Executive Directors

In addition to the general duties and responsibilities of all

directors, the non-executive directors have the following

key duties, which the Company has documented:

- to challenge constructively and help develop proposals
onstrategy:

- to scrutinise the performance of management in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the
reporting of performance;

-tobesatisfied on the integrity of financial information
and that financial controls and systems of risk
management are robust and defensible; and

-toberesponsible for determining appropriate levels
of remuneration of executive directors and have aprime
role in appointing, and where necessary removing,
executive directors andin succession planning.

The Chairman and the non-executive directors met ance
during the financial year ended 31 March 2005 without the
executive directors or any management team members
being present. The non-executive directors, led by the senior
independent director, evaluated the performance of the
Chairman for the year ended 31 March 2005.

All of the non-executive appointments will terminate
automatically on the date of their ceasing to be adirector.
Charles Gurassa, Caroline Marland and Rupert Gavin

were appointed for aninitial term of three years.

David Maloney is appointed for aninitial term of two years.
Charles Gurassa's appointment is terminable by either
party on 12 months writtennotice. Except for Gordon
McCallum’s appointment, the nen-executives’
appointments may be terminated at any timeonone
month's notice.

Gordon McCallumwas appointed as the director of the
Company for aninitial term of three years althoughhe
canterminate the appointment at any time onone month's
written notice. His appointment will also terminate
automatically by removal by Bluebottle Investments

{(UK) Limited or retirement or removal pursuant to the
Company's articles of association or the Relationship
Agreement.

Company Secretary

Alldirectorshave access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The current Company Secretary,
Paul Cowlishaw, was appointed on 1 July 2004 when the
previous Company Secretary, Peter Gram, resigned.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary
isamatter for the Board as awhole.

The Company Secretary ensures goodinformation flows
withinthe Board and its committees and between senior
management and non-executive directors and advises the
Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters
andensures that the Board's procedures are complied with.

Effectiveness of the Board

The Chairmanmet with each of the directors of the Board to
discuss theirindividuat performance and the performance
of the Board as awhole. As part of the evaluation, each of
the directors were also asked to complete questionnaires
on the performance of the Board. The chairpersons of the
Remuneration and Audit Committees also met with the
directors who were onthose committees todiscuss

the performance of those committees. As part of the
evaluation each of the members of the committees were
asked to complete questionnaires reviewing the performance
and composition of the committees of which they were
members. As the Nomination Committee only had two
brief meetings during the year ended 31March 2005

the performance of the Nomination Committee has not yet
beenreviewed. The non-executive directors, led by the
senior independent director, also carried out a performance
evaluation of the Chairman, taking into account the views
of the executive directors. The Company Secretary
reviewed the completed Board and committee
questionnaires and produced areport, whichwas
considered by the Board. As aresult, aseries of
recommendations were proposed which have been, or will
be,implemented. The directors concluded that the Board
andits committees operated effectively and no significant
issues were identified. A performance evaluation of the
Board and the committees of the Board will continue to be
conducted annually.

Board Committees

TheBoard has established an Audit Committee, a
Remuneration Committee and a Nominations Committee.
The terms of reference of these committees are published
on the Company’s website at www.virginmobile.com/about.
The Legal Director and Company Secretary is the
Secretary to these committees and he or Philip Auld,
Solicitor and Deputy Company Secretary, formally takes
the minutes of each meeting which are circuiated to all
members and, once approved, are circulated to the Board.




Audit Committee
Chairman: David Maloney
Other members: Caroline Marland, Rupert Gavin

The Audit Committee was established by the Board at

the first board meeting following the admission of the
Company to the officiallist of the London Stock Exchange
andmet three times since then during the year ended
31March 2005. The committee will normally meet at least
four times ayear.David Maloney, as chairman of the Audit
Committee hasrecent andrelevant financial experience,
includingactingas CFO of Le MeridienHotels and Resorts
and of Thomson Travel Group and Preussag Airlines within
the past five years.He also has a BA{Hons) in Economics
andis afellow of the Chartered Institute of Management

Accountants. Rupert Gavinwas CEC of BBC Warldwide and

Caroline Marland acted as Managing Director of Guardian
Newspaper Group. Alan Gow, Chief Financial Officer, and
Jake Wright, Head of Financial Control, also attend the
meetings except when the committee wishes for
confidential feedback from the auditors.

The committee has responsibility for, among other things,
the planning and review of the Group’s Annual Report and
accounts and half-yearly reports and the involvement of
the Group’s auditors in that process, focusing particularly
oncompliance with legal requirements, accounting
standards and the rules of the UK Listing Authority,and
ensuring that internal financial control isregularly
assessed. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing

and approving the annual report and accounts and the
half-yearly reports, remains with the Board.

Audit Committee Report
The main activities of the Audit Committee during
the year ended 31 March 2005 were as follows:

-Review of Financial Results and Statements
The Audit Committee reviewed and reported to the
Board onthe interimresults and the annual report and
accounts, taking into consideration the views of the
externalauditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP.

—Review of Effectiveness of internal
Controls and Risk Management Process
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
Company’s Annual Assessment of the Effectiveness
of Internal Controls and Risk Management Processes.
This was subsequently adopted by the Board.

~Review of Internal Audit
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
internal audit work programme and subsequent
internal audit reports.

- Review & Approval of Whistleblowing Policy
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
Company's whistleblowing policy, which set out
a confidential process for staff and contractors
toreport any illegal orimproper conduct by the
employees of the Group.

- Conduct of External Auditors
The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the
engagement letter with Deloitte & Touche LLP and
theremuneration paid for the auditors’services. The
Audit Committee alsoreviewed and approved a policy
of non-audit work that could be carried out by the
Company’s external auditors where there was no conflict
of interest. In order to safeguard the external auditors’
objectivity and independence the external auditors are
notinstructed to carry out non-audit work on which they
might, in the future, berequired to express an audit
opinion; canonly carry out non-audit work permitted
by the Company's policy on non-audit work; and they use
separate engagement letters for each piece of work they
carry out.

Deloitte & Touche LLP has carried out two key pieces

of non-audit work during the year ended 31 March 2005:
preparatory work for the admission of the Company
tothe official list of the London Stock Exchange and
theindependent review report for the Company’s
interimresults.

The members of the Audit Committee held discussions
withDeloitte & Touche LLP to ensure that there were
no restrictions onthe scope of their audit of the
Company and to discuss any items the auditors wished
toraise without the Company’s financial staff or senior
executives being present.
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Remuneration Committee
Chair: Caroline Martand
Other members: Rupert Gavin, David Maloney

The Remuneration Committee was established by the
Board at the first board meeting following the Company's
admissicn to the official list of the London Stock Exchange
and consists entirely of independent nan-executive
directors. The committee met three times during the year
ended 31 March 2005. The committee has responsibility for,
amaong other things, the determination of remuneration
packages for eachof the executive directors and the
Chairman, including pension rights and any compensation
payments, recommending and monitoring the level and
structure of remuneration for senior management, and
reviewing the design of shareincentive plans.

KarenThornber, the People Directoris the internal adviser
to the Remuneration Committee who provides information
and advice to facilitate discussion and decision-making on
remunerationmatters. NewBridge Street Consultants LLP
have beenusedby the Remuneration Committee as external
advisers and to provide information and data to the
Remuneration Committee to assist with the development
of executive remunerationand, inparticular, inrelationto
the development of share incentive schemes. They also
assist the Remuneration Committee with agreeing
appropriate packages reflecting the remuneration policy.

The RemunerationReport pravides further information
onthis committee.

Nomination Committee

Chairman: Charles Gurassa

Other members: David Matoney, Caroline Marland.
Rupert Gavin

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board
at the first board meeting following the Campany's
admissionto the official list of the London Stock Exchange
andmet twice during the year ended 31 March 2005.

This committee meets as and whennecessary and has
responsibility for, among other things, leading the process
of Board appointments and making recommendations to
the Board, among other matters, on Board composition and
balance. The committee’s role also includes reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, giving
consideration to succession planning, considering
potential Board candidates following recommendations
fromexternal advisers or applicants fromopen
advertising, reviewing the leadership needs of the
Company, reviewing the membership of the other Board
committees and assessing the re-appointment of any
non-executive director at the conclusion of their

specified term of office.

During the year ended 31 March 2005, the committee
had two brief meetings to discuss succession planningin
respect of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer andto meet a prospective fourthindependent
non-executive director.

Relations with Shareholders

As well as ad hoc meetings between major shareholders
and members of the Board that occur throughout the vear,
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer met
withmajor shareholders after the announcement of the
interimresults and on other cccasions. These meetings
took ptace inthe United Kingdom, the United States as
well as major European financial centres. Analysts of the
telecommunications sector are invited to either attend
presentations an the Company's results or participate
inconference calls to discuss them where this ismore
appropriate. The whole Board also receives briefings from
the corporate finance team, Chief Executive Officer,
ChiefFinancial Officer and Chairman on the views of major
shareholders about the Company and the senior
independent director is available to attend meetings
withmajor shareholders tolisten to their views. The
Company also engages regularly with the mediato help
communicate with ather stakeholders such as the public.

The Annual General Meeting willbe held inLondonon

20 July 2005. it is the Company's intention that the
chairpersons of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees and the other directors will be available

to answer questions from shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting.




The Company’s investor relations team, corperate finance
teamand company secretarial team deal with day to day
enquiries of investors and the investor relations sections
of the Virgin Mobile website contain the Company’s listing
particulars and details of all previous results announcements
aswell as otherinformation that may be of interest
toinvestors.

Internal Control and Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Board has overall responsibility for systems of internal
centrol throughout the Group and for reviewing at least
annually their effectivenass. The Board monitors all
controls, including financial, operating and compliance
controls andrisk management. The control systemsin
place are designed to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against loss or damage and are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives.

The key procedures operating within the Group are

as follows:

Budgetary contraol

Adetailed annual planning process is undertaken to produce
aplan and abudget for the forthcoming financial year.
Managers of individual areas of VMTL prepare plans and
budgets for that financial year, within financial parameters
set by the management of VMTL, which are challenged by
the executive directars. An overall plan and budget is
approved by the Board prior to the commencement of

the financial year. Monthly management information s
prepared and reviewed by the Board, including financial
and non-financial performance showing variances

against budget.

Control environment and control activities

The Boardhas aformal schedule of matters reserved to
itfor decision. The Group has established policies and
procedures to ensure that expenditure, cash management,
treasury management and other operations considered
significant by their value orimportance to the business
are subject to the disciplines of appraisal and approval

by appropriate levels of management.

Risk management

Thereis anon-going risk management process for

identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks

faced by the Group. This process also deals with health and
safety and environmentalrisks and hazards as described
inmore detail onpage 42 of this Annual Report.

The processincludes the following:

- Risk Forum (comprising the executive directors,
the other members of the management team and the
Headof Financial Control) carry out risk assessments
onaquarterly basis, to determine the nature and extent
of risks facing the Group;

-The profile of the significant risks is summarised and
trackedusing a consolidated risk map;

- Therelevant members of the management team are
responsible for managing the risks identified by the
Risk Forum.

-Therisk map is reviewed by the Audit Committee on
aquarterly basis.

Reporting

The Audit Committee meets quarterly and, among other

agendaitems, will:

—Review the external and internal audit work plans;

- Consider reports from management and internal audit
onthe systems of internal control;

-Discuss withmanagement the actions taken onareas
identified either by the Board or by internal or external
audits or by the Risk Forum.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee reportsthe

significantissues to the Board.

Monitoring

The Group's internal audit function manage internal audit
work, althoughs significant internal audits are outsourced.
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal
control throughout the Group and has been assisted by the
Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Financial Control and
external consultantsin this review.
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Introduction

This is the first Remuneration Report published by the
Remuneration Committee, whichwas established shortly
after the Company's admission to the official list of the
London Stock Exchange in July 2004.The Company's
Remuneration Policy has been devised by the Remuneration
Committee, approved by the Board andis set out below.
The Company's shareholders will be invited to consider

and vote on this report at the Annual General Meetingon
20 July 2005.

The Remuneration Committee

Chair: Caroline Marland

Other members: Rupert Gavin, David Maloney

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for,

amongst other things:

- the determination of specific remuneration packages
for each of the executive directars and the Chairman,
including pensionrights, any compensation payments;

-recommending and monitoring the level and structure
of remuneration for senior management; and

- reviewing the design of share incentive plans.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available onrequest from the Company Secretary
and are published onthe Company’s website at
www.virginmobile.com/about.

The Remuneration Committee met three times during the
year ended 31 March 2005. Details of attendance at

each meetingare containedin the Corporate Governance
Reportonpage49.

ThePeople Directoris theinternal adviser ta the
Remuneration Committee who provides information and
advice to facilitate discussion and decision-making on
remunerationmatters. Where appropriate, the Chief
Executive Officer has beeninvited to attend the meetings
to express his views onthe implementation of remuneration
palicy onhis directreports, but has not participatedinany
discussiononhis ownremuneration.

New Bridge Street Consultants LLP have beenused by
the Remuneration Committee as external independent
advisers and providedinformation and datato the
Remuneration Committee to assist with the development
of executive remuneration and, inparticular, inrelationto
the development of share incentive schemes. They also
assisted the Remuneration Committee with agreeing
appropriate packages toreflect the remuneration policy.
They provide no other services to the Company.

Their terms of reference are also published on the
Company's website.

Remuneration Policy

Theprinciple objectives of the Company's remuneration
policy are tolink pay and performance, align the executive
directors’interests with those of shareholders and ensure
thatremunerationis competitive and sufficient to attract,
retainand motivate highcalibre directors torunthe
Company successfully. Thisisimplemented by controlling
the fixed elements of remuneration and providing the
executive directors with the opportunity toearn
significantly more through performance related

variable pay.

Inorder to achieve these objectives, it is the policy of the
Company toremunerate executive directors in accordance
with the following principles:

Base Salary

The Remuneration Committee aims to set base salaries
that are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors
of the quality required to run the Company successfully
whilst havingregardto their contribution, responsibilities
and function. When considering any increase to the
directors'base salaries, the Remuneration Committeeis
also mindful of the salary increases awarded to other
Company employees. Base salary awards are reviewed
against those paid at other telecommunication companies
and against those paid to directors of other quoted
companies with asimilar market capitalisation. The
Remuneration Committee’s policy is to pay around the
median salary of directors based onthese comparators.




Pension

The Company has decided not to operate afinal salary
pensionscheme. Instead. amoney purchase pension
scheme s available and contributions are based only on
base salary. The Remuneration Committee’s policyis to pay
pensioncontributions thatareinline with the marketrate
that are paid by similar companies that only have amoney
purchase pensionscheme.

Annual Bonus

The Remuneration Committee recognises the importance
of cashbonuses that have annual targets linked to the
success of the Company’s business. The Remuneration
Committee’s policyis that directors at the Company
should have anannual bonus potential in the upper
quartile compared to other quoted companies with
asimilar market capitalisation.

Long TermIncentives

Asignificant proportion of the total remuneration package
of executive directorsis designed to alignadirector’s
interests withthe interests of its shareholdersusing
long-termincentives. This enables executives to achieve
significant rewards if the Company achieves significant
growthinits earnings per share.

Levels of fees for non-executive directors reflect the time
commitment and responsibilities of therole. Non-executive
directors do not participate inthe Company’s annual bonus
plan, the pension scheme orits employee share plans.

The Remuneration Committee reviews external market
datasupplied by external advisers as well as pay and
employment conditions across the Group when
determining the remuneration of directors.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the

Remuneration Policy needs to remain flexible, and therefore,

willbe kept under continual review. The Remuneration
Committee welcomes dialogue from the Company’s
shareholders and will keep shareholders fully informed of
any future changes to this Remuneration Policy in future
annual reparts.

Components of Remuneration

Executive Directors'Remuneration

Executive directorsreceive base salary, pension and other
benefits. annual bonus andlang-term incentives. Details of
the executive directors' remuneration package payablein
the year ended 31March 2005 are included on page 59 to
60.Itis currently envisaged that, inline with the
Remuneration Policy.in subsequent financial years the
directors’remuneration will have the same structure that
was in place during the year ended 31 March 2005.

~Base Salary
Theexecutive directors’base satary is inclusive of any
fees payable to them as directors of the Company or
any associated company. The service agreements
provide that salary is reviewed annually taking effect
onlOctober eachyear and that any increase in salary
shall be at the absolute discretion of the Company.
TheRemuneration Committee review salaries each
year following review of market data supplied by
external advisers.

-Pension and Other Benefits
Under their service agreements the executive directors
arealso entitledto the following:

(i) acontributionequalto15% of basesalary tothe
Company’s pensionscheme (this was increased from
10% in the year ended 31 March 2005 following a
review by the Remuneration Committee which showed
suchanincrease was inline with the benchmarking
formoney purchase schemes in the relevant
benchmarking grouping and reflected median
contributionrates);

{ii) medicalinsurance{subjecttotherules of the scheme);

(iii) deathinserviceinsurance providing cover of 4 times
the lower of salary and the statutory or other
regulatory limitimposed from time to time;

(iv) continued disability insurance providing cover not
exceeding 67% of salary until retirement;

(v) carallowanceswhicharereviewed by the Board
annually; and

(vi) 30working days’holiday ineach calendar year
{excluding bank and other public holidays).
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- Annual Bonuses The performance period comprises the financial year
Under the service agreements, the executive directors -of the Cempany inwhich the grant date of the award falls
may be awarded an annual bonus payment of up to and the following two financial years, with the aggregate
amaximum of 100% of their annual base salary.Ontarget  normalised EPS figures for these three years being
bonuses are 50% of base annual salary. The payment compared to the EPS for the financial year immediately
of these bonuses may be suspended or discontinued by preceding the performance period. For the first grant of
the Board at any time intheinterests of the Company. awards on 27 July 2004 the base EPS was determined
For the year ended 31March 2005 the bonuses were by the Remuneration Committee onan appropriate basis,
based on the following weighted performance criteria: taking into account the financial effect of the changes in
40% on the Company’s profitability; 20% on the the capital structure and the telecommunications supply
Company meetingits customer budgets; 20% on the agreement with T-Mobile and was based on EPS before
Company meeting its customer service budgets and exceptionalitems and normalised for tax. The
20% onthe executive director's personal performance Remuneration Committee believes that these
criteria. Future performance criteria and budgets will measures are the most appropriate means of aligning
be agreed by the Board. the interests of executives with those of shareholders

because earnings are akey financial measure for the

-Long Term Incentives Company, particularly as the Company's shares were
The Remuneration Committee administers the only recently admitted to the official list of the London
Performance Share Plan {PSP). Awards made under Stock Exchange. A comparative performance condition,
the PSP are neither transferable nor pensionable. for example ane based onshareholder return, was
The Company's current policy is that only a selected unworkable because the Company is different from
group of the Company's most senior executives are any other listed telecommunications company in the

granted awards under the PSP.No awards willbe granted ~ UnitedKingdom.
to anindividualin any financial year over ordinary shares

of the Company whose valueis greater than150% of If the performance target is not met after three years,
thatindividual's annualrate of salary, other thanin awards will lapse immediately; there willbe no
exceptional circumstances determined by the opportunity tore-test the performance condition. The
Remuneration Committee, in which case the limit Remuneration Committee may amend the performance
is 200% of that individuat's salary. Participantsinthe conditionif anevent occurs that causesitreasonably to
PSP have not and will not receive options under the consider that the original performance condition will not,
Discretionary Share Option Plan. All awards made under without alteration, achieve its original purpose, provided
the P5P are subject to a performance condition set by that the Remuneration Committee acts fairly and

the Remuneration Committee at the time of grant of the reasonably, and that the amended condition would, in the
awards. The performance conditionisbased on the three opinion of the Remuneration Committee, be materiaily
year compounded annual growth in the Company’s no less demanding to satisfy than the original condition
aggregate normalised basic earnings per share (EPS) as contemplated at the date of grant. Any amendment
comparedto the retail prices index (RPI} over the will be disclosed in the Remuneration Report following
three-year performance period, as follows: the amendment.No amendments were made in the

financial year ended 31 March 2005.

Normalised EPS per annum Percentage of award that vests

LessthanRPI+6% 0% -Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Pre-1PQ Plan)
RPI+6% 25% of awards up to100% Several senior managers, including the executive
of a participant’s salary directors, were granted options to acquire a total of

0,
BetweenRP|+6%  Proratabetween 25% and100% 11,936,100 ordinary shares in the Company under the

RPI+129 9 o . .
andRPI+12% Ofavf/a.rdsu,ptomO/Wfa Virgin Mabile Pre-IPO Plan as part of the reward for their
participant’s salary . . . .
RPI+12% 100% of awards up to 100% past service at anexercise price of 145.868p per ordinary
of aparticipant’s salary share. As the options granted under the Pre-IPO Plan are
BetweenRPI+12%  Proratabetween 0% and 100% toreward pastperfgrmance,theyare notsubject to
andRPI+15% of that part of an award in excess of 100% performance conditions. Half the options became
of aparticipant’s salary exercisable on admission to the official list of the
RPI+15% 100% London Stock Exchange and the remainder of the

options became exercisable on 31 March 2005.




The options lapse to the extent unexercised onthe
tenthanniversary of their date of grant. The Remuneration
Committee will not operate the Pre-IPOPlanin

the future.

~Share Incentive Plan{SIP)
Every eligible employee of the Group, including the
executive directors, was granted free sharesunder the
SIPonadmission of the Company’s shares to the official
listof the London Stock Exchange. The number of free
shares that were awarded was linked to past service so
that each eligible employee received approximately
£280worthof ordinary shares for each year of service
to the Group. The amount received was pro-rated for
partyearsof service.

The SIP operates through a trust, which acquires ordinary
shares by purchase or by subscription and holds themon
behalf of the employees.Free shares mustbeheldin
trust for a period of at least three years from the date on
whichthe shares are allocated to employeesunless the
employee ceases employment in certain circumstances.

-Savings-Related Share Option Plan
The executive directors are also eligible to participate
inanInland Revenue approved savings related share
option plan, inwhich alt UK employees within the Group
may participate.

Under the Save As YouEarn (SAYE)Plan, dptions are
granted at adiscount of 20% to the market value of
ordinary shares and are linked to either a three year
or five year savings contract. The maximum monthly
amount that may be savedis £250. The exercise of
optionsunder the SAYE Planis not subject to the
satisfaction of performance conditions.

Non-Executive Directors'Remuneration

Details of the nan-executive directors' remuneration
packages paid in the year ended 31March 2005 are
included on page 59. The Company does not contribute
to the pension of any non-executive director.

The executive directors of the Board will review the
remuneration of non-executive directors annually.

Except for Charles Gurassa, anannual fee of £5,000 is
payable to anon-executive director for each committee
that they chair. Charles Gurassa is provided with secretarial
and administrative servicesrequired for himto carry out
his duties. As part of his fee arrangement Charles Gurassa

has acquired £500,000 worth of ordinary shares {Invested
Shares)inthe Company at 200 pence a share. The invested
Shareswere purchased from Bluebottle Investments {UK)
Limited. Provided he continues to provide his services and
continues to hold the Invested Shares until the third
anniversary of admission of the Company to the official list
of the London Stock Exchange he will become entitled to a
fee (payableinordinary shares but net of all withholding
taxes)equal to the market value of the Invested Shares at
that time. Charles Gurassa's right to receive this fee willbe
acceleratedif his appointment is terminated due to death
or disability or thereis a takeaver of the Company before
suchanniversary. !f his appointmentis terminated for
causehewilllose hisright to the fee.if his appointment is
terminated in any other circumstance than those referred
toabove, the amount of the fee payable will be proratato
the extent that the three year period has elapsed. The
number of ordinary shares by reference to whichthe feeis
calcutated will be adjusted, as appropriate, if thereis any
variationinthe share capital of the Company (including a
capitalisation or rights issue} or ademerger of the
Company.|f thereisacapitalisationissue, ordinary shares
received inrespect of his Invested Shares will farm part

of his Invested Shares. If thereis arights issue he must
acquire, as additional Invested Shares, that number of
ordinary shares that canbe acquired from selling sufficient
of hisrights inrespect of the Invested Shares so that the
net proceeds of sale canbeusedto subscribe for the balance.

Service Contracts

The executive directors’service contracts were all entered
intoon 28 June 2004, although the effective dates are

all 26 July 2004. Each of the executive directors'service
contracts have no fixed term and are terminable by either
party giving to the other no less than twetve months'notice
inwriting. No compensationis required ta be paidon
termination of the service contracts.

All of the non-executive appointments will terminate
automatically onthe date of their ceasing tobe adirector.
Charles Gurassawas appointed on 28 June 2004 for an
initial term of three years. His appointment is terminable
by either party ontwelve months'written notice. Caroline
Marland and Rupert Gavinwere appointed as non-executive
directors of the Company for aninitial term of three years
althaugh either party may terminate their respective
appointments at any time onone month's notice. David
Matcney was appointed as anon-executive director of the
Company for an initial term of two years althougheither
party may terminate the appointment at any time on one
month's notice. Gordon McCallumwas appointed as a
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director of the Company for aninitial term of three years
although he canterminate the appointment at any time
onone month's written notice. His appointment willalso
terminate automatically by removal by Biuebottle
Investments (UK) Limited or retirement or removal
pursuant to the Company's articles of associationor

the Relationship Agreement.

Share Qwnership Guidelines

Share ownership guidelines are inplace for the
executive directors of the Company. These guidelines
encourage the Chief Executive Officer to acquire and
maintainashareholdingin the Company of avalue
equivalent to two times base salary and other executive
directors to acquire and maintain a shareholding of
avalue equivalent to their base salary. To the extent that
shareholding targets in the guidelines are not already
met, itis anticipated that the executive directors will
meet the targets withinaperiodof five years. Once these
targetshave beenmet, the executive directars should
maintain their shareholding at the specifiedlevel.

The Remuneration Committee will review the share
ownership guidelines periodically.

Other Matters

There is no arrangement under which adirector of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive future emoluments
nor have there been any such waivers during the financial
year ended 31March 2005. There are no outstanding loans
or guarantees granted or provided by any member

of the Group to, or for the benefit of, any of the directars

of the Company.

The executive directors do not currently hold any non-
executive directorships at other companies. Thereisno
prohibition ontakingnon-executive positions, but the
Boardwouldhave to approve any suchproposal. The
guestion of whether or not the executive director would
be entitied tokeep the fees from such positionwitl be
determined at that time and would be disclosedin future
remunerationreports.

Total ShareholderReturn

The performance graphbelow illustrates the Company's
total sharehalder return from 20 July 2004 (when the
Company was first listed) to 31 March 2005, comparedto
the FTSE Mid 250 Index. The FTSE Mid 250 Index has been
chosenbecause the Company became a constituent of
that index shartly after its flotation.

Total shareholderreturn
£ value
125

e
s
no
105
100 ‘ ’ —— VirginMobileHoldings{UK]ple
95 | — FTSEMid250

20July 2004
Source:ThomsonFinancial

31March2005

This graph shows the value, by 31 March 2005, of £100
invested in Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK} pic on 20 July 2004
compared with the value of £100 invested in the

FTSEMid 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts).

it should be highlighted that whilst theinvestmentinthe
FTSE Mid 250 Index includes dividend returns, due to the
period covered, the investment in Virgin Mobile Holdings
{UK) plc does nat include any dividend returns.




Audited Information
Emoluments and Compensation

The remuneration of the directors payable for the year to 31 March 2005 from the Company are set out below.
The remuneration of the current directors are for the period from their appointment to 31 March 2005.

Salary/Fees' Benefits? Annual Bonuses Contri:irt‘is:w: Total
Name £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Previous Directors
Susannah Parden - - - - -
Jane Bullock - - - - -
Chairman
Charles Gurassa? 114 - - - 114
Chief Executive
Thomas Alexander* 297 20 222 30 569
Executive Directors
Alan Gow 191 17 142 19 369
Jonathan Steel* 187 14 n2 19 332
Non-Executive Directors
Caroline Marland 34 - - - 34
David Maloney 34 - - - 34
Rupert Gavin® 30 - - - 30
GordonMcCallum® 30 - - - 30
Notes

I Salary/fees comprise base salary and fees for being chairperson of a committee of the Board.

2 Benefits principally comprise car allowances. private health insurance andlife assurance.

3 Charles Gurassa's service contract includes provision for secretarial and administrative support.
4

As part of the Groupreorganisation describedin note | to the accounts, Thomas Alexander and Jonathan Steel received £1,961,561 and £490,390respectively for part

of their shareholdings in Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited.

Rupert Gavinreceived £12,808 of his salary directly until Octaber 2004 and the remainder was paid toIncidental CoimanLimited for his services.

5
6 GordonMcCallum's salary is paid to Virgin Management Limited for his services.

Director's BeneficialInterests

The directars’'beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, excluding interests in the Pre-IPQ Plan, PSP or

SIP are shownbelow:

Shareholding as at Shareholding as at
Director N 31March 2004 31March 2005
Charles Gurassa’ - 250,000
Thomas Alexander! - 1,270,971
Jonathan Steel - 317,743
GordonMcCallum' - 770,971
Rupert Gavin - 10,000
DavidMaloney - 5,000
Alan Gow - -

Caroline Marland -

Notes
1 Theseshares were atquiredbefore the admissionof the Company to the official list of the London Stock Exchange.
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Long Term Incentive Scheme (PSP)

Awards over ordinary shares of the Company (“Awards”) were granted at the Company’s admission to the official list of
the London Stock Exchange to the executive directors under the Virgin Mobile Performance Share Plan as described
above, such awards being exercisable, subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions, for nil consideration.

Number of Number of Number of

Ordinary Shares  OrdinaryShares Ordinary Shares

under Awards under Awards underAwards

heldasat granted  Awardslapsed heldasat
Name 31March2004  duringtheyear  duringtheyear  31March2005 Exercise Price Vesting Date ExpiryDate
Thomas Alexander - 294,503 - 294,503 Nil  27July2007 27}an2008
AlanGow - 157,068 - 157.068 Nl 27July2007  27)an2008
Jonathan Steel - 153,796 ~ 153,796 Nil  273uly2007 27)an2008

The closing market price of the ordinary shares on the date the awards were granted was 190.62p. The Awards are subject
to the performance condition set out onpage S6 under Long Term Incentives.

Other Share Option Schemes
The following options over ordinary shares of the Company have been granted to the executive directors under the
Pre-IPQ Plan as part of the reward for their past service.

Number of Number of Number of
Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
SharesUnder  SharesUnder SharesUnder Date
Optionasat Optiongranted Optionslapsed Optionas at exercisable
Director 31March2004 duringtheyear duringtheyear 31March2005  DateofGrant ExercisePrice from Expiry Date
Thomas Alexander - 1585175 - 1585175 8luly2004  145868p 2luly2005 8luly 2014
Alan Gow - 1,323,605 - 1323605 8July2004 145.868p 21july2005 8iuly 2014
Jonathan Steel - 397,570 - 397570 8Julty2004  145868p 21July2005 8July 2014

The closing market price of the Company's ordinary shares at the end of the year was 220 pence. The highest and lowest
prices of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year since the Company's admission to the official list of the London
Stock Exchange was 280.31 pence and 174.5 pence.

Under the free share award as part of the SIP, the following directars were awarded the following number of free shares,
which are heldintrust:

Number of Number of

OrdinaryShares  Ordinary Shares

Held Under HeldUnder

theSIPasat the SIPas at
Director ) 31March2004  31March 2005 Date of Grant
Thomas Alexander - 734 26 July 2004
Alan Gow - 550 26 July 2004
Jonathan Steel - 734 26 July 2004

Asexplained above, the SIP aperates through atrust, and the free shares must be held in trust for a period of between
three and five years from the date of grant.

Canolos Fonlone!

By Order of the Board

Caroline Marland

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
26May 2005




STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES

United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period which

give atrue and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial period and of the profit

or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

-select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

-make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed;

- prepare the financial statements onthe going concernbasis unlessit is inappropriate to presume that the Group will
continueinbusiness.

Thedirectors areresponsible for keeping proper accountingrecords which disclose withreasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the

Companies Act1985.They are also responsible for the system of internal control, for safeqguarding the assets of the

Group andhence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Thedirectors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2005.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF VIRGIN MOBILE HOLDINGS {UK) PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plc for the year ended 31 March 2005 which
comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheets,
the cash fiow statement, and the related notes 1to 28.
Thesefinancial statements have been preparedunder the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited
theinformationinthe part of the Remuneration Report
thatis described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as
abody, inaccordance with section 235 of the Companies
Act1985. Our audit work has beenundertaken so that we
might state to the Company's members those matters we
arerequiredto statetotheminan auditors'report and for
no other purpose. Jo the fullest extent permitted by law, we
donot accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Company and the Company's members as abody,
for our audit work, for thisreport, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respectiveresponsibilities of directors and auditors

As describedinthe statement of directors’responsibilities,
the Company’s directors areresponsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with applicable
UnitedKingdom law and accounting standards. They

are alscresponsible for the preparation of the ather
information contained in the Annual Reportincluding the
RemunerationReport. Our responsibility is to audit the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report described as having been audited inaccordance
withrelevant United Kingdom legaland

regulatory requirements and auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report described as having been audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985.We also repart to youif,inour opinion, the Directors’
Report is not consistent with the financial statements, if
the Company has not kept proper accountingrecords, if
we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding directors’remuneration and transactions

with the Company and other members of the Group is

not disclosed.

Wereview whether the corporate governance statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions
of the July 2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we reportif it does not. We are not required
to consider whether the Board's statements oninternal
control cover ali risks and controls, or form an opinionon
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
procedures or itsrisk and controf procedures.

Weread the Directors'Report and the other information
containedin the Annual Report for the above year as
describedin the contents section including the unaudited
part of theRemuneration Report and consider the
implications for ourreport if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or materialinconsistencies
withthe financial statements.




Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance withUnited
Kingdom auditing standards issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. Anaudit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures
inthe financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report described as having been audited.

It alsoincludes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors inthe preparation
of the financial statements and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
Company and the Group, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtainall
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary inorder to provide us with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
and the part of the Remuneration Report described as
havingbeen audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irreqularity arerror.in
forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of informationinthe
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report described as havingbeen audited.

Opinion

Inour opinion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at
31March 2005 and of the profit of the Group for the year
then ended; and

-thefinancia! statements and part of the Remuneration
Report described as having been audited have been
properly preparedin accordance with the Companies
Act1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

26May 2005




ACCOUNTS

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

12monthsended 3 months ended

31March2005 31 March2004
Note £000 £'000
I Turnover before exceptionalitem 521296 122,848
Exceptional turnover 3 - 1,001 J
Turnover 2 521,296 123,849
Costof sales (301,624) (68,891)
Gross profit 219,672 54,958
Administrative expenses before exceptional operating costs (136,825) (32.246)
| Exceptional operating costs 3 {15,189) -
Administrative expenses (152,014) (32.246)
Operating profit before operating exceptional items 82,847 27
Exceptional items 3 (15,189} 1,001
Operating profit 67,658 22712
Finance charges (net) 4 {14,543} (1,903)
Profitonordinary activities before taxation 5 5315 20,808
Taxonprofitonordinary activities 7 (18.372) {5,987)
Profit for the financial period 34743 14,822
Equity dividends 8 (12,343) -
Retained profit for the financial period 22,400 14,822
Earnings per ordinary share 9 13.8p 59p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 9 13.6p 59p
Underlyingearnings per ordinary share 9 184p 56p

Allamounts derive from continuing cperations.
There were no other recognised gains and losses in these periods.




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 MARCH 2005

31March2005 31 March2004
Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 1 21,059 26,532
Currentassets
Stocks 13 5941 10,801
Debtors 14 24,253 39,865
Deferredtax asset 14 17.821 36,193
Cash atbank andinhand 13,220 37481
61,235 124,340
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (141154} (445,681)
Net current liabilities {79,919) (321,341
Total assets less current liabilities (58,860} (294,809}
Creditors: amounts falling due after more thanone year 16 (200,625) (1.201)
Net liabilities (259,485} (296,010}
Capitaland reserves
Called up share capital 18 25,293 25,000
Share premium account 19 15859 1,870
Mergerreserve 19 (328,348) (247,784)
Profitandloss account 19 2771 (85.096)
Accumulated deficit 20 (259,485) (296,010)

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2005 and signed on its behalf by:

W

Alan Gow
Chief Financial Officer




ACCOUNTS

COMPANY B

AS AT 31 MARCH 2005
31March2005  31March 2004
........................ NOte B £’000 flooo
Fixed assets
Investments 12 52,028 -
Currentassets
Debtors 14 23102 -
Deferredtaxasset 14 932 -
Cashatbankandinhand 167 -
24,201 -
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (17,176) -
Net currentassets 7.025 -
Netassets 59,053 -
Capital andreserves
Calted up share capital 18 25,293 -
Share premium account 19 15.859 -
Mergerreserve 19 11482 -
Profit andloss account 19 6,419 -
Shareholders’funds 59,053 -

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 May 2005 and signed onits behalf by:

{

I

Alan Gow
Chief Financial Officer




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
12monthsended 3 monthsended
31 March2005 31 March 2004
- Note £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 2 90.780 40,069

Returns oninvestments and servicing of finance 22 {12124} {1,460)
Capital expenditure and financialinvestment 22 (11.502) (1,324)
Cashinflow before financing 67154 37,285

Financing 22 (91,415) {46,403)

Decreasein cashin the period 23 {24,261) (ans)




NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

1. Accounting policies
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards. The particular accounting
policies adopted, all of which have been applied consistently throughout all the periods presented, are described below.

Basis of preparation

During the year, the Group underwent a reorganisation. Prior to the reorganisation, the share capital of Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited, the principal operating company of the Group, was divided into a number of different classes of shares.
As part of the rearganisation, two further companies were added to the Group. Virgin Mobite Holdings (UK} plc, the
holding company of the Group, owns 100% of the shares in Virgin Mobile Group (UK} Limited which is also the borrower
under the new credit facility whichwas entered into on 2 Juty 2004. Virgin Mobile Group (UK] Limited in turn owns 100% of
the shares in Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, which have beenrearganisedinto one class. The reorganisationinvolved a
number of share transfers at market value the consideration for which was either anissue of shares inVirgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plcor cash.

This reorganisationhas been accountedfaor as a group reorganisation in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 6
"Acquisitions and mergers" ("FRS 6"). The difference between the cost of investment in Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited
and the share capital of VirginMobile Telecoms Limited that arises on consolidation has been treated as a merger
reserve in accordance with FRS 6. This mergerreserve only arises upon consolidation and does not impact the level of
distributable reserves within the Group.inaccordance with FRS 6, the financial statements have been prepared for all
periods as if the group reorganisation had occurred before 1 january 2004. Therefore the balances payable to the
previous Virgin Mabile Telecoms Limited shareholders that arose through the group reorganisation have beenincluded
withinthe comparative balance sheets, and finance costs of non-equity shares have been excluded from the comparative
profitandlossaccount.

On 29 July 2004, the High Court granted an order confirming the reduction of the share premiumaccount by £80,564,000
of its operating company subsidiary, Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited. This has been accounted for in the consolidated
balance sheet as amovement inreserves between the merger reserve and profit and loss account inthe year ended
31March 2005.

This sharereduction and group reorganisation has been accounted forusing merger accounting principles, inorder to
meet the overriding requirement under section 227(6) of the Companies Act 1985 for financial statements to present
atrue and fair view. The transaction does not meet one of the conditions for merger accountingunder the Companies Act
1985, namely that the fair value of any non-equity consideration must not exceed 10% of the nominal value of equity
sharesissued.However, the Directors consider that the alternative approach of acquisition accounting, with the
restatement of separable assets and liabilities to fair values, the creation of goodwill and inclusion of post-reorganisation
results only, would not give atrue and fair view of the Group's results and financial position. The substance of the
transaction was not the acquisition of 3 business but a group reorganisation under which a new halding company has
been established with all the former ordinary shareholders of the Group having the same proportionate interest in

the new holding company as they had previously held inthe Group. The Directors consider that it is not practicable to
quantify the effect of this departure from the Companies Act 1985 requirements.




1. Accounting policies {continued)

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts consolidate the accounts of Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc and its subsidiary undertakings drawn
up to 31 March each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired are consclidated for the periods from which control passed.
Acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts receivable for handset and airtime services provided in the normal course of business,

net of VAT and trade discounts.

Handsets and other equipment turnover is recognised based on the amounts receivable at the date of sale. Airtime
turnover derived from customers is recagnised based on the usage of the network in the period. Prepaid airtime sales
are deferreduntil the customer uses the stored value.

Subscriber acquisition costs
Subscriber acquisition costs, which include the commission costs associated with acquiring new customers and other
incremental costs of customer acquisition, are recognisedin the profit andloss account as incurred.

Finance costs
Finance costs of debt arerecognised in the profit andloss account over the term of suchinstruments at a constant rate
onthe carryingamount.

Taxation
Corporationtaxisprovided ontaxable profits at the current rate. No charge is made for group relief inrespect of losses
claimed or surrendered to and from other group companies.

Deferredtaxis providedin full onalltiming differences whichresult inan obligation at the balance sheet date to pay
more tax, or aright to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax
rates andlaws. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations
inperiods different from those inwhich they are included in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent thatit isregarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciationis provided
onalltangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value, of each
assetonastraight-line basis overits expecteduseful life, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3years
Computer systems 2-3years
Fixtures andfittings 3years
Office equipment 3years

Residual valueis calculated on prices prevailing at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is not charged on assets
inthe course of constructionuntil they are ready for service.




1. Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts consclidate the accounts of Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc and its subsidiary undertakings drawn
up to 31 March eachyear. The results of subsidiaries acquired are consolidated for the periods from which control passed.
Acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method.

Turnover
Turnover represents amounts receivable for handset and airtime services provided in the normal course of business,

net of VAT and trade discounts.

Handsets and other equipment turnover is recognised based on the amounts receivable at the date of sale. Airtime
turnover derived from customers is recognised based on the usage of the network in the period. Prepaid airtime sales
are deferreduntil the customer uses the stored value.

Subscriber acquisition costs
Subscriber acquisition costs, whichinclude the commission costs associated with acquiring new customers and other
incremental costs of customer acquisition, are recognised in the profit and loss account as incurred.

Finance costs
Finance costs of debt are recognised in the profit and loss account over the term of suchinstruments at a constant rate

onthe carrying amount.

Taxation
Corporationtaxis provided ontaxable profits at the current rate. No charge is made for group reliefinrespect of losses
claimedor surrendered to and from other group companies.

Deferredtaxis provided in full on all timing differences whichresultinan obligation at the balance sheet date to pay
more tax, or aright to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax
rates and laws. Timing differences arise fromthe inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations
inperiods different from those inwhich they are included in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it isregardedas more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any pravision far impairment. Depreciationis provided
onall tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value, of each
assetonastraight-line basis over its expecteduseful life, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3years
Computer systems 2-3years
Fixtures and fittings 3years
Office equipment 3years

Residual valueis calculated onprices prevailing at the date of acquisition. Depreciationis not charged on assets
in the caurse of constructionuntil they are ready for service.
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1.Accounting policies {continued)

Investments

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment. Current asset investments are stated at lower
of costand net realisable value.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is based on the estimated selling
price, less further direct selling costs. Provisionis made for obsolete, stow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Leases

Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts or finance leases are capitalisedin the balance sheet. Those heldunder
hire purchase contracts are depreciated over theiruseful economic lives. Those held under finance leases are depreciated
over their estimated usefullives or the leases’term, whicheveris shorter. The interest element of these obligations

is charged to the profit andloss account over the relevant period. The capital element of the future payments is treated
as aliability.

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term, evenif the payments are not
made onsuch abasis. Benefits received and receivable as anincentive to signan operating lease are similarly spread on
astraight-line basis over the lease term, except where the period to the review date onwhich the rent s first expected
tobe adjustedto the prevailingmarket rate is shorter than the full lease term, in which case the shorter periodis used.

Pension costs

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to

the profitandloss account inrespect of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable
inthe period. Differences between contributions payable in the period and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments inthe balance sheet.

Share options

Following the issuance of Financial Reporting Standard 20“Share based payments” ("FRS 20”) the Group has elected
toadopt this standard early in line withthe recommendation of the Accounting Standards Board and in order to avoid
achangeinthe Group's accounting policy for share based payments in future periods. All outstanding equity instruments
at the balance sheet datehave beenaccounted for using FRS 20. The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certainemployees. These share based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value
determinedis expensed on astraight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares that will
vest. The amount charged to the profit andloss account is also included as movement inreserves.

Fairvalueis measured by use of the “Stochastic Model” which determines fair value based on running a number
of different scenarios for future share prices. The expectedlifeused in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group has no cash-settled share-based payment schemes.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)

Foreigncurrency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction or, if hedged,
atthe forward cantract rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet
date arereportedat therates of exchange prevailing at that date or, if appropriate, at the forward contract rate.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to interest rate movements and foreign exchange risk.
The Group does not hold orissue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Foraninterestrate swap tobe treated as ahedge the instrument must be related to actual assets or liabilities

or a probable commitment and must change the nature of the interest rate by convertingafixed rate to avariablerate
orvice versa.Interest differentials under these swaps arerecognised by adjusting net interest payable over the periods
of the contracts.

Foraforward contract to be treated as a hedge the instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets

or liabilities or to a probable commitment. It must involve the same currencies or similar currencies as the hedgeditem
and must also reduce therisk of foreign exchange movements on the Group’s operations. Gains andlosses arising on these
contracts are onlyrecognised in the profit andloss account when the hedged transaction itself has beenreftectedin

the Group's accounts.

If aninstrument ceases to be accounted for as ahedge, for example because the underlying hedged positionis eliminated,
the instrument is marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

2.Segmental information

The Group’s operations and markets are located within the United Kingdom and form a single segment with two types
of product: service and equipment.
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3.Exceptionalitems
12monthsended 3 monthsended
31March2005 31 March 2004

£°000 £000
Capitalrestructuringand IPOrelated expenses (6320} -
Pre-IPO employee share options scheme cost (8.869) -
Revenue for previously disputed marketing support contributions - 1,001
Total exceptional (expenses)income (15,189) 1,001

The cash expense for £6,320,000 relates to expenditure by the Group withrespect to the group reorganisation
undertaken and the Initial Public Offering (1PO") in the year.

The non-cash expense for £8,869,000 relates to the implementation of the pre-IPO share option scheme under which
share options were granted to employees as areward for growing the business in the period from launch until the IPO.

As aresult of the settlement of various disputes involving Virgin Mobile Telecomns Limited, T-Mobile and certain

Virgin Group companies, Virgin Mobite Telecoms Limited was entitled to receive certain amounts for previously disputed
marketing support contributions that would be determined following future proceedings. The amount was determined
with certainty prior to the approval of the financial statements for the three months ended 31 March 2004 and £1,001,000
was recognised as turnover in the results for this period for previously disputed marketing support contributions for the
periodended 31March 2004.

4.Finance charges (net)
12monthsended 3 months ended
31March2005 31 March2004

. £'000 £000
[nterest payable on:
Bank loans and overdrafts (14,392) (898)
Financeleases (2) (2)
Loans fromrelated companies (830} (754)
Loans fromprevious shareholder (830) (754)
Interest payable and similar charges (16.054) (2,408)
Interest receivable and similar income 151 505
{14,543) (1,803)
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5.Profitonordinary activities before taxation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxationis stated after charging:

12Zmonthsended 3 monthsended
31March 2005 31 March2004
£000 £000

Depreciation and amounts written off tangible fixed assets:
~0Owned assets 17428 4,294
~Leasedassets 8 2

Operatingleaserentals

-Leasehold property 1,187 297
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services 245 131
Auditors'remuneration for non-audit services 1382 200

Of the £1,382,000 for auditors'remuneration for non-audit services, £1,300,000relates to services providedinrespect

of the capital restructuring and IPO undertaken by the Group during the year.

6.5taff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

12monthsended  3months ended

31March2005 31 March2004

Distribution 270 173
Marketing 55 53
Administration 1131 1,026
1,456 1.252

Their aggregate remuneration comprised: £000 £000
Wages andsalaries 47.268 8,779
Socialsecurity costs 4,141 862
Qther pension costs (see note 25) 1125 261
52.534 9,902

Of the £47,268,000 for wages and salaries, £8,869,00C relates to an exceptional operating expense for the

implementation of the pre-1P0O share option scheme under which share options were granted to employees as areward

for growing the business in the period from launchuntil the IPO(see notes 3 and 26).

Details of Directors’'remuneration and interests are provided in the Remuneration Report on pages 59 to 60.
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7.Tax onprofiton ordinary activities

The tax charge for the period comprises:
12monthsended  3monthsended
31March2005 31 March 2004

£000 £000
Current tax
UK corporation tax - -
Total current tax - -
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (18,372) (5,987)
Total deferred tax (seencte14) (18.372) (5,987)
Total tax charge on profit on ordinary activities {(18.372) {5.987)

The differences between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standardrate

of UK corporationtax to the profit before tax is as follows:
12monthsended 3 months ended
31March2005  31March2004

£000 £000
Profit onordinary activities before tax ' 53115 20,808
Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2004 - 30%) 15,935 6,243
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1173 58
Depreciationin excess of capital allowances 1.982 528
Timingdifferencesinrespect of share options 2,256 -
Utilisation of brought forwardlosses (21,346} (6,830)
Current tax charge ' - -

8.Dividend per share
1Zmonthsended 3 monthsended
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £000

Final dividend of 4.88p (3 months ended 31 March 2004 - nil) per ordinary share. 12,343 -
12,343 -
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9.Earnings per ordinary share
12monthsended  3monthsended
31March2005 31 March 2004

£000 £000
Earnings
Profit for the period 34,743 14,822
Number of ordinary shares (000s) 250919 250,000
Earnings per ordinary share
Basic 13.8p 59p
Diluted 13.6p 5.9p
Earnings
Profit for the period 34,743 14,822
Exceptional items 15,189 {1,001)
Tax effect of exceptional items (3.646) 300
Underlying earnings 46,286 14121
Underlying earnings per ordinary share 18.4p 5.6p

Due to the group reorganisation as described innote 1, the number of ordinary shares used to calculate earnings
perordinary share for all periods is based upon the 250,000,800 ordinary shares inissue following the group
reorganisation, and adjusted inthe current period for subsequent ordinary share issues. Similarly, the earnings used to
calculate earnings per share for the comparative period exclude the finance costs of non-equity shares inissue at the time.

Thediluted earnings per share for the current year includes the impact of 4,535,000 outstanding ordinary share options
orrights to ordinary shares at 31 March 2005.

10. Profit attributable to VirginMabile Holdings {UK) ple

Theretained profit for the year ended 31 March 2005 dealt with in the financial statements of the company, Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plc, was £3,306,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £nil). As permitted by Section 230 of the
Companies Act 1985, no separate profit and loss account is presented inrespect of the Company.
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11.Tangible fixed assets

Leasehold Fixtures Office Computer

improvements and fittings equipment systems Total
Group £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Cost
At1April 2004 7,797 773 417 65.821 74,808
Additions 50 218 5 10,519 10,792
Transfer from current assets - - - 2594 2,594
Disposals - - - (185} (185)
At 31March 2005 7.847 991 422 78,749 88,009
Accumulated depreciation
At April 2004 7777 701 319 39,479 48,276
Charge for the period 20 80 50 17,286 17436
Transfer from current assets - - - 1,287 1,297
Disposals - - - {59) {59)
At 31March 2005 7797 781 369 58,003 66,950
Netbook value
At 31 March 2005 50 210 53 20,746 21,059
At31March 2004 20 72 98 26,342 26,532

Tangible fixed assets for the Group include computer equipment and office equipment at a cost of £663,000
{31March 2004 - £663,000) and net book value of £11,000 (31 March 2004 - £17,000) inrespect of assets heldunder
afinance lease. Computer systems for the Group includes £2,702,000 (31 March 2004 - £4,690,000) of assets in the
course of construction.

12.Fixed assetinvestments

Company £000
AtTApril 2004 -
Additions 52,028
At 31March 2005 52,028

The additions during the year represent the effect of the group reorganisation as described innote 1.
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12.Fixed assetinvestments{continued)
Principal group investments

The Company and the Group have investments in the following subsidiary undertakings, which principally affected the

profit orlosses or net assets of the Group. All holdings are 100% of the equity share capital.

Name Country of incorperation Nature of business
VirginMobite Group (UK} Limited* England Holding company
Virgin Mobile Telecomns Limited England Telecoms services
Bluebottle Call Limited England Property holding

*Held directly by Virgin Mabite Holdings {UK) plc

13.5tocks

Group
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £'000
Finished goods heldforresale 5941 10.801

14.Debtors
Group Company
31March2005  31March2004  31March2005  31March 2004
£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Trade debtors 18,667 28,370 - -
Amounts owed by other related companies (see note 27) 1,291 7.515 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 23,099 -
Prepayments and accruedincome 4,295 3,980 3 -
24,253 39,865 2302 -

The Company balance sheetincludes £2 due fromits parent company at 31 March 2004.
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14.Debtors {continued)
The deferred tax asset at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 is made up as follows:

Group Company

31March2005  31March2004  31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £000 £°000 £000

Unrelieved trading losses - 31,673 - -
Accelerated capitalallowances 15,527 4520 - -
Timing differences inrespect of share options 2,294 - 932 -
17.821 36,193 932 -

Of the Group's deferred tax asset of £17,821,000, £13.034,000 (31March 2004 - £14,506,000) is due after more than one
year. Of the Company’s deferred tax asset of £932,000, £553,000 (31 March 2004 - £nil) is due after more than one year.

The movement inthe deferred tax asset during the year is as follows:

Group Company
£000 £000
AtTApril 2004 36,193 -
Additions 5,532 932
Utilised during the year (23,904) -
{Charge) credit to profitand loss account (18,372} 932
At 31March 2005 17.821 932
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15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Company

31March2005  31March2004  31March2005  31March 2004

£'000 £000 £000 £000

Bank loans 49,490 23,012 - -
Previous shareholder ioan - 38,375 - -
Loan fromoriginal Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders - 240,969 - -
Obligations under finance leases 3 6 - -
Trade creditors 25,268 17,963 31 -
Amounts owed to other related companies (see note 27) 2,077 40,558 -~ -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 3,629 -
Other taxation and social security 6.833 4,454 56 -
Other creditors 104 94 - -
Accruals and deferredincome 45,006 80,250 M7 -
Proposed dividends 12343 - 12,343 -
141,154 445,68] 17176 -

During the year ended 31 March 2005 the Group repaid in full the syndicated loan facility cutstanding at 31March 2004.
On 2 July 2004, Virgin Mobile Group (UK) Limited, a subsidiary of Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc, enteredinto a

£350 million credit facility. £330 million, net of £3.3 million issue costs, of this credit facility was drawn downin

July 2004 and £80 million has been repaid by 31 March 2005. The credit facility is secured on the share capital and
assets of the Virgin Mobile Group {UK) Limited group.

For further details of the interest rate profile and maturity of financial liabilities, see note 17.

16.Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group

31March2005 31 March 2004

£'000 £000

Bank loans 197,959 -
Obligations under finance leases 7 10
Accruals anddeferredincome 2,659 1181
200,625 1,201

The net finance lease obligations to which the Group are committed and which are secured on the related assets are:

) Group

31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £000

Inone yearorless 3 6
Betweenoneandtwoyears - 7 10
10 16
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17.Derivatives and other financial instruments

Set out below is an explanation of the role financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the
risks the Group facesinits activities. The explanation summarises the objectives and policies for holding orissuing
financial instruments and similar contracts, and the strategies for achieving those objectives that have been followed
during the period.

The Group has established treasury policies which are reviewed annualty by the Board or Audit Committee to ensure they
remainrelevant to rapid business change. The major financial risks faced by the Group are foreign currency risk, interest
rate exposure and liquidity risk. These are outlined belaw:

Foreign currencyrisk

About one-third of the handset purchases made by the Group are from suppliers in continental Europe. These purchases
areinvoicedinEuros. The Group's policy is to eliminate some currency exposure on purchases at the time of purchase
through forward currency contracts. All other purchases are denominatedin sterting.

Interestraterisk

The Group has enteredinto interestrate swaps to hedge against adverse movements inLIBOR inrelation toits credit
facility. The Group's policy is to keep between 50% and 75% of the credit facility borrowing at fixed rates of interest.

As at 31 March 2005, 60% of the credit facility was covered by fixedrate interest rate swaps. The numerical disclosures
inthis note deal with financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in Financial Reporting Standard 13 “Derivatives

and other financial instruments: Disclosures” (*FRS13"). Certain financial assets such as investments in subsidiary and
associated companies are excluded fromthe scope of these disclosures. The loan from the original Virgin Mobile Telecoms
Limited shareholders of £240,969,000 that arose through the group reorganisation, as describedinnote 1, and has been
included withinthe comparative balance sheet has also been excluded from the scope of these disclosures. As permitted
by FRS 13, short term debtors and creditors have been exciuded from the disclosures, other than the currency disclosures.

Liquidityrisk

The Group's overall objective is to ensure that itis, at all times, able to meet its financial commitments as and when

they fall due. To this end, surplus funds are collected and invested with approved counter-parties, within authorised limits,
with the aim of maintaining short term liquidity while maximising yield.
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17.Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Currency exposures

As at 31 March 2005, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts the Group had no
currency exposures (31 March 2004 - Enil).

Interest rate profile

The Group has no financial assets other than cash at bank. All financial liabilities are denominated in sterling.

After takinginto account interest rate swaps, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March 2005
and31March 2004 was as follows:

31March 2005 31March 2004

Total Floatingrate Fixedrate Total Floating rate Fixedrate

£°000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowings 250,010 250.000 10 89,778 76,750 23,028

As at 31 March 2005, the Group had entered into aninterest rate swap agreement, which has resulted in 60% of the credit
facilitybeinghedged at the year end. This interest rate swap agreement allows the interest rate to be fixed ona quarterly
basis at arate between anupper and alower level. Although FRS13 treats interest rates under thisinterest rate swap
agreement as floating rates, the Board views the interest rates as fixed rates in line with the Group's treasury policy.

As at 31March 2004, all previously entered into interest rate swap agreements for borrowings had expired. The weighted
averagerate of interest on the outstanding syndicated loan facility, as at 31 March 2004, was 6% and was fixed for six
months. The interest rate on the floating rate shareholder and previous shareholder{oans was fixed ona quarterty basis
at4% above the three month LIBOR rate. These loans were repaidin full on 5 July 2004.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’'s financial liabilities at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 was as follows:

31March2005  31March 2004
TotalBorrowings TotalBorrowings

000 £000
Inoneyearorless 50,003 99,768
Inmore than one year but not more than two years 50.007 i
Inmore than two years butnot more than five years 100,000 -
Inmore than five years 50,600 -

250,010 99,778
Credit facility issue costs {2557) -
Total 247459 99,778
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17.Derivatives and other financial instruments {continued)

Issue costs inrespect of the credit facility were £3,300,000 and are being recognised in the profit and loss account over
the term of the credit facility at a constant rate on the carrying amount. As at 31 March 2005, £2,551,000 of these costs
had not beenrecognised inthe profit and loss account, of which £510,000 relates to amounts falling due within one year

and £2,041,000 relates to amounts falling due after more than one year.

Borrowing facilities

The Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004 inrespect of which all

conditions precedent had been met, as follows:

I1March2005  31March 2004
€000 " €000
Expiring inmore than two years 100,000 10,000
Fair values
Setoutbelow is acomparison by category of book values and fair values of the Group’s financial liabitities
at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004.
31March 2005 31March2004
Book value Fairvalue Book value Fair vatlue
£000 £000 £000 £000
Primary financial instruments held or issued
to finance the Group's operations
Short term financial liabilities and current portion of long term borrowings 49,493 50,783 99,768 99,952
Long term borrowings 197,966 203,478 10 10
Derivative financial instruments held to manage
theinterestrate and currency profile
Interestrate swaps - 540 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts - (3) - 105

The fair value of the interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts have been determined by reference
to prices available from the markets on which the instrument involved s traded. All the other fair values shown above
have been calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates. As at 31 March 2004, the Group believed that

the fair value of the shareholder and previous shareholder loans approximate their book value.
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17. Derivatives and other financial instruments {continued)

Gains and losses onhedges

The Group enters into forward foreign currency contracts to eliminate some of the currency exposures that arise on
purchases denominated in foreign currencies. It also uses interest rate swaps tomanage its interest rate profile. Changes
in the fair value of instruments used as hedges are not recognisedin the accounts until the hedged position matures.

An analysis of the unrecognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 March 2005 is as follows:

31March 2005
Gains Losses Net
£000 £000 £'000
Unrecognised gains and losses onhedges at 1 April 2004 - 105 105
Gains andlosses arisingin previous years that were recognised
in the year ended 31March 2005 - (105) (105)
Gains and losses arising before 1 April 2004 that were notrecognised
inthe year ended 31March 2005 -~ - -
Gains and losses arising in the year ended 31 March 2005 that were not recognised
in the year ended 31 March 2005 3 540 537
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at 31 March 2005 3 540 537
Of which:
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the year ending 31 March 2006 3 196 193
Gains and losses expected to be recognised after 31 March 2006 - 344 344
An analysis of the unrecognised gains and losses for the three months ended 31 March 2004 is as follows:
31March 2004
Gains Losses Net
£000 £000 £000
Unrecognised gains and losses onhedges at 1 January 2004 - 163 163

Gains and losses arisingin previous years that were recognised

in the three months ended 31 March 2004 - (163) (163)
Gains and losses arising before 1 January 2004 that were not recognised

in the three months ended 31 March 2004 - - -
Gains and losses arising in the three months ended 31 March 2004 that were notrecognised

inthe three months ended 31 March 2004 - 105 105
Unrecognised gains and losses onhedges at 31 March 2004 - 105 105
Of which: :
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the year ending 3t March 2005 - 105 105

Gains and losses expected tobe recognised after 31 March 2005 - - -
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18.Called up sharecapital

Group
31March2005  31March 2004
£'000 £000
Authorised:
330,000,000(31March 2004 - 330,000,000) ordinary shares of £0.10 each 33.000 33,000
Allotted and fully paid:
252,935,948(31March 2004 - 250,000,000) ordinary shares of £0.10 each 25,293 25,000

Due to the group rearganisation as describedinnote 1, the number of ordinary shares in existence at the beginning
of the periodis based on the 250,000,000 ordinary shares inissue following the group reorganisation. The movement
inthe current period arose fromthe exercise of share options.

Company
31March2005 31 March 2004
£000 £000

Authorised:
1,000 ordinary shares of £1 each - 1
330,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 33,000 -
33,000 1

Allotted and fully paid:

2ordinary shares of £1each - -

252,935,948 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 25,293 -
25,283 -
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18. Called up share capital {continued)

0On16 June 2004, the Company subdivided its authorised share capital of 1,000 ordinary shares of £1 each into 100,000
sharesof £0.01each and 798 ordinary shares of £0.01 each were issued to VirginManagement Limited, the Company's
immediate parent. Subsequently, Virgin Management Limited sold all of its 998 shares to Bluebottle Investments (UK)
Limited, which then became the immediate parent of the Company.

Alsc on 16 June 2004, as part of the group reorganisation, the Company acquired various shares in Virgin Mobile Telecoms
Limited, the consideration for which was the issue and allotment of two ordinary shares of £0.01 eachin the capital
of the Company.

On1July 2004, the Company consolidatedits authorised share capital of 100,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 eachinto
10,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each. The authorised share capital of the Company was then increased from £1,000

to £33,000,000 by the creation of 329,990,000 additional ordinary shares of £0.10 each. The Company used its share
premium account to the amount of £24,529,731to pay in full at par 245,297,307 unissued ordinary shares of £0.10 each,
and these shareswereissued and allotted to the sole holder of the ordinary shares inissue, Bluebottle Investments (UK)
Limited,as abonusissue.

On 20 July 2004, also as part of the group reorganisation, the Company acquired further various shares in Virgin Mobile
Telecoms Limited, the consideration for whichwas cashand theissue and allotment of 4,702,593 ordinary shares of £0.10

eachinthe share capital of the Company.

Further movements inthe current period arose from the exercise of share options.
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18. Called up share capital {continued)
Share options

The Group has issued the following options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company:

Number Number
of options of options
Exerciseprice cutstanding outstanding
pershare Exercisable Expiry J1March 31March
Date options granted £ from date 2005 2004
Pre-{PQ Plan(Pre-tPQ Plan)
8 July 2004 145868 26 July 2004 8July 2014 3,032,102 -
8 July 2004 145868 31March 2005 8luly2014 5,968,050 -
9,000,152 -
Savings Related Share Qption Plan {Sharesave)
10ctober 2004 1683 10ctober 2007 1Aprit 2008 1,036,428 -
Discretionary Share Option Plan {DSOP)
26 July 2004 191 26 July 2007 26 July 2017 1501999 -
Performance Share Plan (PSP)
27 July 2004 nil 27 July 2007 27 January 2008 1109132 -
Total outstanding options 1264771 -
For further details of the share option schemes, see note 26.
19.Reserves
Share Profit
premium Merger andloss
account Reserve account Total
Group £000 £000 £000 £'000
At1April 2004 . 1,870 (247.784) (85.096} (321,010
Reduction of share premium account of subsidiary - (80,564) 80,564 -
Issue of share capital arising from the exercise of share options 3.98¢ - - 3,989
Chargesinrespect of employee share schemes - - 9,843 9,843
Retained profit for the year - - 22,400 22,400
At 31March 2005 15,859 {328,348} 27,71 (284,778)
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19.Reserves (continued)

Share Profit
premium Merger andloss

account Reserve account Total

Company £900 £'000 £000 €000

At1April 2004 ~ - - -

Issue of share capital arising from the group reorganisation(see note 1) 11,870 11,482 - 23352

Issue of share capital arising from the exercise of share options 3,989 - - 3,989

Chargesinrespect of employee share schemes - 313 313

Retained profit for the year - - 3306 3,306

At 31March 2005 15,859 11,482 6419 33,760
20.Reconciliation of movements in group shareholders'funds

12 monthsended 3 months ended

31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £'000

Profit for the financial period 34,743 14,822

Dividends payable (12,343) -

Charges inrespect of employee share schemes 9,843 -

lssue of ordinary shares 4,282 -

Net movement to accumulated deficit 36,525 14,822

Opening accumulated deficit (296,010} (310.832)

Closing accumulated deficit {259.485) (296,010)

21.Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

12monthsended 3 months ended

31March 2005 31 March 2004

£000 £000

Operating profit 67,658 22712

Depreciation charges 17,436 4,296

Loss(gain}on disposal of fixed assets 126 (76)

Noncash charges inrespect of employee share schemes 9,843 -

Decreaseinstocks 4,860 {4.234)

Decreaseindebtors 14,315 30,705

(Decrease)increditors (23.458) (13,334)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 90,780 40,069
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22. Analysis of cash flows

12monthsended 3 monthsended

31March2005 31 March2004
£000 £'000
Returns oninvestments and servicing of finance:
Interestreceived 151 505
Interest paid (13,633} (1,963)
Interest element of finance leaserentals 2) (2)
Net cash outflow from returns oninvestments and servicing of finance (12,124) (1.460)
Capital expenditure and financial investment:
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (11,502) (1447)
Proceeds from disposai of tangible fixed assets - 123
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (11.502) (1.324)
Financing:
Increase innew credit facility, net of issue costs 326,700 -
Repayment of old syndicated loan and new credit facility 103.012) (46,400)
Repayment of shareholder and previous sharehalder loans (78,410) -
Repayment of loan from original Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders {240,969) -
Issue of share capital 4,282 -
Repayment of capital element of finance lease (6) (3)
Net cash outflow from financing (91,415) {46,403)
23 Analysisandreconciliation of net debt
Other
1April non-cash 31March
2004 Cash flow changes 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cashinhand, at bank 37481 (24,261) - 13,220
Debt due within one year and after one year (340,731 95.691 {2.409) (247,449)
Finance lease (16) 6 - {10)
Net debt (303,266) 71436 {2.409) (234,239)
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23. Analysis and reconciliation of net debt (continued)

12monthsended 3 monthsended

31March2005  31March 2004

£000 £000

Decreaseincashinthe period (24,261) {a.118)
Cashdrawn down under new credit facility, net of issue costs (326,700} -
Cashused torepay old syndicated loan and new credit facility 103,012 46,400
Cashusedtorepay shareholder and previous shareholder loans 78,410 -
Cashusedtorepayloanfromoriginal Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited shareholders 240,969 -
Cashusedtorepay finance lease 6 3
Change innet debt resulting from cash flows 71436 37.285
Othernon-cash changes (2,409) (1.508)
Movementinnetdebtinperiod 69,027 35,777
Net debt brought forward (303,266) (339,043)
Net debtat periodend (234.239) (303,266)

The non-cash changes represent the amortisation of the issue costs for the new credit facility and the interest on the
shareholder and previous shareholder loans that were rolled up into the principal on a quarterly basis. The shareholder

and previous shareholder loans were repaidon 5 July 2004.
24.Financial commitments

Annual minimum lease commitments:

Group
Land and buildings
31March2005  31March 2004
£000 £'000

Expiry date
- withinone year - -
-betweentwo andfive years - -
—afterfive years 1,092 1,092
1,092 1,092

The Group and company have £nil (31 March 2004 - £nil) of capital commitments contracted but not provided for.

25.Pension arrangements

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for which the pension cost charge for the twelve months ended

31March 2005 amounted to £1125,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £261,000).
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26.Share based payments

During the year ended 31March 2005 the Group implemented a number of share incentive schemes, being the following:
~the Virgin Mobile Pre-IPO Pan (the “Pre-IPO Plan”)

- the Virgin Mobile Share Incentive Plan(the "SIP")

- the Virgin Mobile Savings Related Share Option Plan(the “Sharesave”)

- the Virgin Mobile Discretionary Share Option Plan (the “DSOP”)

- the Virgin Mobile Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”)

Pre-IPOPlan

Under the Pre-tPO Plan, on 8 july 2004 share options were granted to employees to acquire 11,236,100 ordinary shares in
Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc atan exercise price of £1.45868 per ordinary share. Options granted under the Pre-IPO
Planwere not subject to performance conditions and 50% of the options granted became exercisable on 26 July 2004 with
the remainder becoming exercisable on 31March 2005. If the options remainunexercised after a period of tenyears from
the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, if anemployee ceased to be employed by the Group, the unvested part
of that employee’s options were forfeited.

12monthsended 3 monthsended
31March2005 31 March2004

£000 £000
Outstanding at the beginning of the year - -
Granted during the year 11,836,100 -
Exercised during the year {2.835,948) -
Outstanding and fully exercisable at the end of the year 9,000,152 -

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised under the Pre-IPO Plan during the
periodwas £2.25.No share options under the Pre-IPO Plan have been forfeited during the year. The options outstanding
at 31 March 2005 continue to have anexercise price of £1.45868, and an average remaining contractuallife of 9.3 years.
No share options under any of the other share option schemes have been exercised during the year.

SipP

On 26 July 2004, every employee of the Group (employed on 1 july 2004 and still employed on 26 July 2004) was awarded
free shares in Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK) plc under the SIP. The award was linked to service history such that each eligible
employeereceived £280worth of ordinary shares for each year of service with the Group, pro-rated for part years

of service. The ordinary shares for these awards were provided out of the Virgin Group shareholding.

Sharesave

Under the Sharesave, on1October 2004 employees were granted options to acquire 1,036,428 ordinary shares

atan exercise price of £1.683 per ordinary share. Employees choosing to enter this scheme arerequired to save monthly
amounts through a contractual savings arrangement over a period of three years. At the end of this savings period,
atax free bonus will be paid and employees may either exercise the options within six months or have the savings

and bonus repaid.
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26.Share based payments {continued)

DSOP

Under the DSOP, on 26 july 2004 share options were granted to emplayees to acquire 1,501,999 ordinary shares
inVirgin Mobile Holdings (UK) pic at an exercise price of £1.91 per ordinary share. These options will normally become
exercisable three years after their grant provided that the participant is still employed by the Group at that date, subject
tothe satisfactionof pre-determined performance conditions. For the share optians granted on 26 July 2004,

the performance conditionis based on the three year compound annual growthin the Group’s aggregate normalised
basic earnings per share compared to the retail prices index (‘RP!") over the three year performance period as follows:

Normalised earnings per share per annum Percentage of award that vests
LessthanRPI+3% 0%

RPI+3% 50%
BetweenRPI+3%andRPI+6% Proratabetween50% and100%
RPI+6% 100%

The base earnings per share for the options granted under the DSOP has been based on the results for the twelve months
ended 31March 2004, adjusted for financial effect of the changes in the capital structure and the new telecommunications
supply agreement, and is based onresults before exceptional items and normalised for tax.

PSP

Under the PSP, on 27 July 2004 options were granted to employees to acquire 1,109,132 ordinary shares in Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plc for nil payment. These aptions will normally become exercisable three years after their grant provided
that the participant is still employed by the Group at that date, subject to the satisfaction of pre-determined performance
conditions. For the share options granted on 27 July 2004, the performance condition is based on the three year compound
annual growthin the Group's aggregate normalised basic earnings per share compared to the RPl over the three year
performance period as follows:

Normalised earnings per share per annum Percentage of award that vests
LessthanRP!+6% 0%
RPI+6% 25% of awards up to 100% of aparticipant's salary
BetweenRPI+6%andRPi+12% Proratabetween 25% and 100% of awards up to
100% of a participant’s salary
RPI+12% 100% of awards up to 100% of a participant's salary
Between RP!+12% and RPI1+15% Proratabetween( % and100% of thatpart of an award
inexcess 0f 100% of a participant's salary
RPI+15% 100%

Thebase earnings per share for the options grantedunder the PSP has beenbased on the results for the twelve months
ended 31 March 2004, adjusted for financial effect of the changesin the capital structure and the new telecommunications
supply agreement, and is based onresults before exceptional items and normalised for tax.

91 Virgin Mobiie Annual Report & Accounts 2005



26.Share based payments {continued)
The fair values of these share incentive schemes have beenmeasured by use of the stochastic model,based on

the following input assumptions:

Pre-IPO Plan SiP Sharesave DSOP PSP
Shareprice £2.00 £1.9125 £1.7625 £19125 £191
Exercise price £1.45868 nil £1683 £191 nil
Expected volatility 37% 37% 37% 37% 37%
Expected life 3years Syears  3.25years 6years 3years
Risk freerate 5.2% 52% 472% 52% 51%
Expected dividends 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Expected volatility was determined by considering the volatility of other telecommunications companies from
1April 2002 to the date the share incentive schemes were introduced.

The Grouprecognised total expenses of £9.843,000related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
inthe year ended 31March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £nil). Of this amount £8,863,000 was recognised as an exceptional

operating expense (see note 3).

27.Related party transactions

Prior to thereorganisaticn as detaited innote |, the Directorsregarded the Virgin Group shareholders, through various
different Virgin Group companies, as the ultimate controlling party. As part of the reorganisation, two further companies
have been added to the Group. The reorganisation involved a number of share transfers the consideration for which was
either anissue of shares in Virgin Mobile Holdings (UK} pic or cash. As a consequence of the reorganisation, the Group
paid £237,293,000 to the Virgin Group shareholders. The following transactions occurred with the Virgin Group during
the year:

Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, was originally partially financed by a loan facility from
Bluebottle UK Limited, amember of the Virgin Group, onwhichinterest at variable rates accrued. The principal amount
of £38,375,000 was outstanding as at 31March 2004 and interest accrued untit the loan was repaid in full on 5 July 2004.
The totalinterest for the period was £830,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £754,000). This amount wasrolled
up to the principal and the total loan of £39,205,000 was repaid on 5 July 2004,

During the previcus period, handset, airtime vouchers and other stock items were sold through retailer channels who
are members of the Virgin Group. These sales, net of charges with respect to the distribution channels, for the three
months ended 31 March 2004 amounted to £179,000. £6,159,000 remained outstanding, and was subsequently paid,
as at 31 March 2004. Sales to Virgin Group retail channels ceased when a full roll-cut of Virgin Mobile Stores had taken
place during the three months ended 31 March 2004.
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27.Related party transactions (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2005, the Group incurred expenses of £3,471,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 -
£1,230,000) for chargesinrespect of Virgin Mobile Stores within various Virgin Retail outlets. Of this amount, £1,161,000
was outstanding at 31 March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £1,591,000). As part of the agreement, Virgin Retail passes through
proceeds from sales of handsets, vouchers and other stock items to Virgin Mobile. £1,291,000 was due to VirginMabile
inrespect of these proceeds as at 31March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £1,356,000).

Members of the Virgin Group performed additional services including printing, brand licensing, property rental and
promotion, whichwere recharged on to the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2005, these amounted to £2,853,000
{three months ended 31 March 2004- £691,000) of which £624,000 (31 March 2004 - £490,000) remained unpaid as at
31March 2005.

Virgin Management Limited provided three directors to the Group until 20 july 2004, and one director from then on.
VirginManagement Limited received a £45,000 (three months ended 31 March 2004 - £11,250) consultancy fee for
these executive services. Anamount of £34,000 remained outstanding at 31 March 2005 (31 March 2004 - £8,000).

The Groupuses some other sundry services provided by members of the Virgin Group. These are transactedonanarm’s
fength basis under normal commercial terms.

28. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

At31March 2005 the immediate parent was Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited. The ultimate parent is Virgin Group
Investments Limited (VGIL), whose principal shareholders are certain trusts, none of which has a controlling interest in
VGIL. The principal beneficiaries of those trusts are Sir Richard Branson and/or members of his immediate family. VGIL
isincorporated inthe British Virgin Islands. Due to various shareholder agreements the directors have contro! of the day
to day operations of the Group. The smallest group of which the Company is amember and for which group accounts are
drawnupis that of Bluebottle Investments (UK} Limited. The largest group of which the Company is a member and for
which group accounts are drawnup is that of VirginHoldings Limited. Both Bluebottle Investments (UK) Limited and
VirginHoldings Limited are incorporated in Great Britain and registeredin England and Wales. The accounts of these
companies are available to the public and may be obtained from Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains forward-looking statements with  Forward-looking statements are sometimes, but not

respect to the Group's financial condition, results of

aperations and businesses and certain of the Group’s

plans and objectives. In particular, such forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, the following:

- statements with respect to the Group's financial
projections and estimates and their underlying
assumptions;

- statements regarding plans, objectives and
expectations relating to future operations, products
and services;

- statements with respect to growth in customers and
usage; future performance, including turnover, average
revenue per user, cash flows, costs, capital
expenditures and improvements in margin, non-voice
services, contract customers and their revenue
contribution;

- statements regarding the Group’s dividend policy;

- statements regarding the potential impact of
regulatory actions on the Group’s financial condition
and operations;

- statements regarding general industry and
macroeconomic growth rates and trends and the
Group’s performance relative to them; and

~ statements regarding the Group's future performance.
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always, identified by their use of a date in the future or

"o 5o ” o

such words as “anticipates”, "assumes”, “aims”, “seeks”,

"o

“will”, “could”, “may”, “should”, “expects”, “believes”,
“intends”, “plans”, "goals”, or “targets” or the negative
thereof or other variations thereon or comparable
terminology. By their nature, forward-looking statements
are inherently predictive, speculative and invalve risk and
uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances that will occur in the future. There are a
number of factors that could cause actual results and
developments to differ materially from those expressed
or implied by these forward-looking statements. These
factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

- slower customer growth or reduced customer
retention;

- changes in economic or other conditions that would
adversely affect the level of demand for mobile
services in the UK;

- greater than anticipated competitive activity requiring
changes in pricing models and/or new product offerings
or resulting in higher costs of acquiring new customers
or providing new services;

- the possibility that the Group's technologies will not
perform according to expectations;

- future revenue contributions of both veice and non-
voice services (including multimedia services) offered
by the Group;



- lower than expected impact of new or existing
products, services or technologies on the Group’s
future revenues, cost structure and capital expenditure
outlays;

- the possibility that new marketing or advertising
campaigns or efforts are not an effective expenditure;

- the possibility that the Group's entry into the contract
market will not be successful;

- loss of suppliers or distributors or disruption of supply
or distribution chains or the slowdown of the expansion
of our distribution network;

~ the ability of the Group to offer new services and
secure the timely delivery of high-quality, reliable
handsets, network equipment and other key products
from suppliers; and

- the impact of legal or other proceedings against
the Group or other companies in the mobile
telecommunications industry.

When reviewing forward-looking statements contained
in this document, you should carefully consider the
foregoing factors as well as other uncertainties and
events and their potential impact on cur operations
and businesses.

95 Virgin Mabile Annual Report & Accounts 2005

Furthermore, a review of the reasons why actual results
and developments may differ materially from the
expectations disclosed or implied within forward-loaking
statements can be found under “Risk Factors” on page 36.
All subsequent written or oral forward-looking
statements attributable to the Company or any member
of the Group or any persons acting on their behalf are
expressly qualified in their entirety by the factors
referred to above. No assurances can be given that the
forward-locking statements in this document will be
realised. Neither the Company nor any of its affiliates
intends to update these forward-looking statements
whether as a result of new information, future events

or otherwise.

The information on our website, or any website directly or
indirectly linked to our or any other website mentioned in
this document is not incorporated by reference into this
document and you should not rely on it.



GLOSSARY

Activecustomer
Customers who have made
anoutboundcall or text
within the last 90 days.

ARPU

Average Revenue Per User.
Calculated ona twelve
monthbasis.

ASP

ApplicationService
Provider. Athird-party
entity which allows
companies to outsource
aspects of their information
technology requirements by
managing software-based
services from acentral
datacentre.

Average cost per customer
Average operating costs
before depreciationper
customer per month.

Board

means the Board of
directors of Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK} plc

Broadband

High-speed connectivity
which permits fast
transmissionof
multimedia content.

Capex
Book value of capital
expenditures.

CR

Corporate Responsibility.
The combinationof social
and environmental factors
whichamajor company
must take into account as
partofitsbroaderrolein
the community.

CRM

Customer Relationship
Management. A central
database systemor set

of systems enablinga
company to manage, analyse
and utilise customer data.

Combined Code

July 2003 FRC Combined
CodeonCorporate
Governance

Company
means Virgin Mobile
Holdings (UK) plc

DSOP
Discretionary Share
OptionPlan.

EBITDA

Earnings beforeinterest,
tax, depreciation

and amortisation.

F2M
Fixedto Mobile
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Freecash flow
Cashflowfromoperating
activities minus cash flow
frominvesting activities.

Freecashflowmargin
Freecashflowandrevenues

Group

means Virgin Mobite
Holdings (UK) plcand
its subsidiaries

GSM

Global System for Mobile
Communication. The most
widely-used set of mobile
telecomstandardsin
Europe.GSMfallsinto the
category of second
generation (2G)

mobile services.

HSDPA

High Speed Downlink
Packet Access. Enhanced
3G network.

IPO

Initial Public Offering. The
sale of sharesinapreviously
privately-owned company
andtheirlistingona

stock exchange.

LIBOR

LondonInterBank Offered
Rate. The most widely-used
benchmark for short-term
interestrates.

Like -for-like free cash
flow margin

Operating free cash flow as
apercentage of revenues,
excluding pre-IPObonus
cash flow of £23.5million.

Like-for-like operating
costs

Administrative expenses
excluding depreciation,
plc-related costs and
exceptional items.

MICAF

Mobile Industry Crime
Action Unit. Anindustry
body established to share
information between mobile
operatorsinthe fight
against crime and fraud.

MMS

Multimedia Messaging
Service. Allows the user to
send messages comprising
acombinationof text,
sounds, images and video.

MSC

Marketing Support
Contribution.Means a
monthly amount, based
upon the number of VMTLs
customers, whichwas
payable to VMTL by
T-Mabile under the former
telecommunications supply
agreement and which VMTL
recognise as turnover



MVNO

Mabile Virtual Network
Operators.Companies
which, like Virgin Mabite,
offermabile
telecommunications
services butdonot operate
the network undertying
those services. Virgin
Mobile was the UK's
first MVNO.

Net free cash flow

Free cash fiow minus
proceeds fromintra-group
financial investments.

Net free cash flow margin
Net free cash flow
andrevenues.

Ofcom

The independent regulatory
authority for the UK's
communications industries,
covering television, radio,
telecommunications and
wireless communications
services.

Operating free cash flow
EBITDA add/less changein
working capital less capital
expenditure.

Opex
Operating Expenditure
(total operating costs).

Otelo

The Telecommunications
Ombudsman. An
independent body setup
tohelp customersresolve
service problems. Virgin
Mobileis a founding
member.

Packet
Indatatransmission,a
sequence of datathatis
transmitted and switched
asawhole.

Plc-related

Incremental costs occurring
inthe past yearrelatedto
becoming a publicly listed
company, including
Elmillionemployee share
optionscheme.

PSP
Performance SharePlan.

SAC

Subscriber Acquisition
Costs. Calculated by
subtracting the revenue
received fromthe sale of
handsets and other related
productsintherelevant
period fromthe total cost of
suchhandsets and ather
related products (including
SIMand packaging costs).
This amount is added to
direct commissions paid to
distributionchannels inthe
relevant period.

S5IM

Subscriber Identity Module,
knownas aSIMcard. Asmall
printed circuit board
inserted in a mobile phone
which controls the personal
identificationnumber of
the subscriber, the network
towhich the subscriber
belongs, security
information and memory
for a personal directory

of numbers.
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SiP
Share Incentive Plan.

SMS

Short Messaging Service.
Allows users to send short
text messagestoother
mobile phones.

SRI

Socially Responsible
Investment. Termgivento
the policy of some
investment fundsnot to
investin companies which
fail to demonstrate
apractical commitment to
highethical standardsin
their business conduct.

TSA

Telecommunications supply
agreement between VMTL
and T-Mobile dated

29 January 2004

UMTS

Universal Mobile
Telecommunications
System - GSM-based 3G
{Third Generation)
technology.

Underlying

With the exception of
underlying EPS, underlying
comparitives exclude the
impact of the 33.4% Ofcom
terminationrate cuts
occurring in September
2004, toreflect the
underlying growth of

the business.

Underlying EPS
Basedontheresultsbefore
exceptionalitems anda
normalised tax charge
basedonour effective tax
rate of 30% of pre-tax
profits.

WAP

Wireless Application
Protocol. A technical
standard allowing text-only
versions of web pages tobe
viewed onamobile phone or
otherwireless device.

WLAN

WirelessLacal Area
Network. Awireless LANis
oneinwhichamobile user
canconnecttoalocalarea
network through awireless
(radio) connection.

VMTL
VirginMobile
Telecoms Limited.



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Advisors

Corporate brokers
JPMorgan Cazenove
20Moargate
London

EC2R6DA

Investec Bank (UK} Limited
2Gresham Street

London
EC2V7QP

Solicitors

Allen & Overy LLP
One New Change
London
EC4MOQQ

Financial Advisers

Morgan Stanley & Co.

International Limited
25 Cabot Square
Canary Wharf
London

E144QA
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Auditors &Reporting
Accountants
Deloitte & Touche LLP
HiltHouse

1Little New Street
London

EC4A3TR

Principal Bankers
Lloyds TSBBank plc
25 Gresham Street
Landon

EC2V7HN

Registrars

Lloyds TSBRegistrars
The Causeway
Warthing

West Sussex
BN996DA



SHARE INFORMATION

Shareholder information

asat 31 March 2005
Shareholders Shareholding

Shareholdings range Number % Number %
1-1,000 224 43.8% 86.603 0.03%
1,001-5,000 88 17.2% 206,947 0.08%
5,001-10,600 36 7.0% 259,214 0.10%
10,001-50,000 53 10.4% 1233718 0.49%
50.001-100,000 23 4.5% 1616.358 0.64%
100.001-500,000 59 11.5% 13,998,482 553%
Over 500,000 29 57% 235,534,626 9312%

512 100% 252,935,948 100%
Share capital structure
asat 31March 2005

%  Shareinformation

Bluebottle Investments (UK) Ltd 72.84  Trading symbol VMOB
Fidelity Management &Research Co 563 Countryofregister UnitedKingdom
Morley FundManagement Ltd 419  Market FTSE250
AberforthPartners 273 SEDOL B01S458
Threadneedle Asset Management Ltd 210 Registrar Lloyds TSBRegistrars
Legal & General Investment Management Ltd 1.02
JPMorgan Fleming Asset Management 1.00
Barclays Capital Securities Limited 0.94
F &CAsset Management Plc 0.89
Standard Life Investments Ltd 0.84
SG Asset Management 0.66
Other shareholders 716
Total 100.00
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Accountingpolicies 31,68~71
Accounts section 64-67
Advertising 6

AGM47

ARPU15,27

Audit Committee 51
Auditors'report 62-63
Balance sheet,

company 66

Balance sheet,

consolidated 65

Benefits, directors'55

Board committees 50
Bonuses, directors'55,56
Borrowings 81

Brand3

Business Model 3,12-13
Bundles 8,22

Cashand cash equivalents 67
Cashflows12,14,15,87

Cash flow statement,
consolidated 67

Cautionary statement 94-95
Chairman’s letter 16-17
Changesinaccounting
policies 31

Charitable activities 42
Chief Executive's letter 18-19
Claims 20

Combined Code 49
Commitments,financial 89
Community work 42
Company Secretary 50
Consolidation principles 69
ContactsIBC
Contractmarket9

Contract with T-Mobile 12,16, 26
Contracts, directors'57,58
Corporate governance
report 48-53

Corporateinformation 98
Corporateresponsibility 38-43
Corporate culture 4=7
Customerbase13,16,22
Customer service10-11,23
Debt,net 87,88
Deferredincome 78,79
Depreciation76
Derivatives71,78~83
Directors,boardof
44-45,48-49,50
Directors’interests 47,59
Directors'report 46-47
Dividends 28,74

DSOP 91

Earnings per share 75
EBITDA12,14,15,18,28
Exceptionalitems 28,72
Finance charges 28,72
Financial instruments 71
Financialreview 26-35
Financial summary 14-15
FTSES6,99

FTSE 4 Good Index 38
Future growth17,19
Glossary 96-97

Goodwill 68
Healthandsafety 40
Highlights,
Corporateresponsibility 38
fnvestments 66,70
Investor relations 52

IFRS 31

Interest-bearing

liabilities 65
IPO21,29,34,38
Liquidityrisk 80,81
Management Board 44,45
Marketing 2~-1
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Nominations Committee
50,52

Non-executive directors 50,57
Notes to the accounts 68-92
Ofcom15,37

Otelo18

Operating expenditure 32
Operatingreview 20-25
Pre-pay market 8-9
Products 8-9
Profitandlossaccount.
consolidated 64

PSP 60,90,91
Relatedparty
transactions 92-93
Remuneration
Committee 52,54
Remuneration Report 54-60
Reserves 86-87
Revenue12-13,15,26
Risk management 29,53
Segmental information 71
Share capital structure
84-85,99

Shareholders 46,52,99
Shareholders'equity 99
Share options 60,70,85
Share option scheme,
pre-IPC56

Shareplans - see DSOPR,
PSP SIP

Share plans,

all-employee 80
SIP55,90

Sponsorship 6

Staff costs73

Statement of accounting
policies 68-71

Statement of directors’
responsibilities 61
Strategy 21

Subscriber acquisition
costs 33

T-Mobile12

Tax &taxation 69,74
VFestival6

Virgin Mobile Bites 9,11,22
Virginbrand 6,3
VirginHassle-free
package9,22
VirginLobster 9
VirginMobile Pay Monthly 9
Virgin Stores 6,11,23



CONTACTS

The cornerstone of Virgin Registered Office
Mobileinvestorrelations Virgin Maobile Holdings (UK) plc
is consistent, open and Willow Grove House

prompt disclosure of all Windsor Road

retevant information White Horse Business Park
pertaining to our business. Trowbridge

We seek an opendialogue Wiltshire

with all our stakeholders, BA140TQ

and encourageyouto

; www.virginmobile.com
contactusdirectly.

RegisteredinEnglandand Wales.
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VATNo. 7403358 28

Company Secretary

Paul Cowlishaw
LegalDirector and
Company Secretary
VirginMobile Holdings (UK) plc
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press.office@virginmobile.com

AlisonBonny
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